# The Promise: Plan 21-24 Evaluation

Report by The Diffley Partnership October 2024





# Contents

Introduction	2
Background and Methodology	3
Overview of Progress	3
Priority Area 1: A Good Childhood	14
Priority Area 2: Whole Family Support	3 <sup>-</sup>
Priority Area 3: Supporting the Workforce	20
Priority Area 4: Planning	26
Priority Area 5: Building Capacity	33
The Fundamentals of Plan 21-24	43
Conclusion	45
Appendix: Bibliography	46



# Introduction

<u>Plan 21–24</u> marks the initial phase of Scotland's ambitious endeavour to keep its promise to children and young people within the 'care system', as well as those on the edges of care, ensuring they grow up loved, safe and respected. Originally structured as three consecutive three-year plans, subsequent adjustments amalgamated the latter two into a unified six-year route map, <u>Plan 24–30</u>.

The framework for Plan 21–24 delineates five core priority areas—A good childhood, Whole family support, Planning, Supporting the workforce, and Building Capacity—comprising of 25 specific actions intended for completion by 2024.

Central to the plan are five foundational principles—What matters to children and families, Listening, Poverty, Children's Rights, and Language—which align with the conclusions and fundamentals of the promise.

To critically evaluate progress and assess the effectiveness of these strategies, The Promise Scotland commissioned an independent evaluation by Diffley Partnership. This evaluation scrutinises not only the outcomes achieved within the 'care system' but also explores the development, implementation, and monitoring of Plan 21–24 amidst socio-political and economic challenges impacting Scotland's ability to meet its commitments within the stipulated timeframe.

Methodologically, the evaluation combines an extensive evidence review of evaluations, reports, and data related to Plan 21–24 with qualitative stakeholder interviews. The evidence review examines trends over the past three years to ascertain impacts and outcomes, while stakeholder interviews gather insights on progress, challenges, and factors influencing implementation. By synthesising these findings, this report aims to provide a comprehensive assessment of Scotland's progress towards meeting the conclusions of <a href="tel:theta:t



# **Background and Methodology**

# **Background**

In February 2020, the <u>Independent Care Review published seven reports</u>, including <u>the promise</u>, following a root and branch review of Scotland's 'care system'. It was informed by the views and experiences of over 5,500 care-experienced children, young people, adults, families and members of the unpaid and paid workforce. The Independent Care Review concluded the current 'care system' is failing to provide the foundation of safe, strong and loving relationships for far too many children. It was clear that Scotland must care in a way that gives children every possible chance to experience love in their lives. The conclusions of the Independent Care Review were accepted across the political spectrum and Scotland made a promise that all care experienced children and young people would grow up safe, loved and respected by 2030.

The promise aims to transform Scotland's 'care system' into one that is more caring and collaborative, centred on the experiences, views, and voices of children and young people. This transformation focuses on providing high-quality, trauma-informed, and compassionate care, improving holistic outcomes, and ensuring that children's voices are heard, and their rights protected.

<u>Plan 21–24</u> was the first in a series of three comprehensive 3-year plans (the last two of which have since been combined into one 6-year plan) outlining the changes that need to be implemented for Scotland to "Keep the Promise". The plan was organised into 5 priority areas: A good childhood, Whole family support, Planning, Supporting the workforce and building capacity. These were split into a number of actions –25 in total – each of which were to be fulfilled by 2024.

Additionally, the Plan was designed with 5 underlying fundamentals which were to guide all of the work going into keeping the promise: What matters to children and families, Listening, Poverty, Children's Rights and Language.

To assess progress under Plan 21–24 according to the indicators, actions and priority areas set out in the document, The Promise Scotland commissioned Diffley Partnership to undertake an independent evaluation of the Plan. In addition to evaluating the Plan's outcomes on the 'care system', this research intends to identify strengths and weaknesses of different aspects of Plan 21–



24, such as its development, implementation and monitoring. It also examines how various sociopolitical and economic circumstances have impacted Scotland's ability to meet the aims of the Plan in the allotted time period.

## Methodology

Diffley Partnership was commissioned by The Promise Scotland to carry out a comprehensive evaluation of the progress made towards the actions outlined in Plan 21–24. Our approach combined both an evidence review and stakeholder interviews to provide a robust assessment of the implementation of these actions, ensuring that the evaluation process was thorough and systematic.

#### **Evidence Review**

At the core of this evaluation was an extensive evidence review. This process involved the collection, analysis, and synthesis of a wide range of secondary data sources. These sources included published and unpublished evaluation reports, academic research papers, grey literature, policy documents, and official statistics that were pertinent to the implementation of Plan 21–24. By conducting this desk-based research, we aimed to gain a holistic understanding of the progress that has been made, along with identifying potential gaps and areas for improvement.

We have conducted an extensive evidence review focusing on evaluations, research reports, and data related to the implementation of Plan 21–24. This desk-based research included analysing this evidence to assess the progress towards achieving the goals of Plan 21–24, reviewing trends in data over the past three years, and integrating qualitative and quantitative data sources. We systematically documented findings in an Excel matrix to ensure methodological rigour and to minimise bias.

The evidence review was conducted in several key stages:

1. **Identification of Relevant Sources:** Initially, a broad search strategy was employed to identify relevant literature and data sources that are directly related to the aims and objectives of *Plan 21–24*. This included reviewing databases, governmental reports, policy papers, and independent evaluations published within the period of the plan. We also focused on capturing emerging trends and insights from relevant official statistics from the past three years to align with the timeline of the plan.



- 2. **Systematic Analysis of Documents and Data:** Once relevant sources were identified, we proceeded with a detailed analysis of the content. Each document was systematically reviewed to extract information on the key themes, progress markers, and outcomes related to *Plan 21–24*. This included assessing how different actions outlined in the plan were demonstrated in the literature, identifying the extent of progress, and noting any barriers or challenges encountered along the way.
- 3. Matrix Documentation: To ensure methodological rigor and consistency in the analysis, we employed a systematic documentation process using an Excel-based matrix. This matrix enabled us to categorise, synthesise, and cross-reference the findings from various sources, ensuring that all information was captured in a structured and unbiased manner. This approach also facilitated the identification of common themes, indicators of progress and discrepancies across different data points.

#### Qualitative Stakeholder Engagement

In addition to the evidence review, we conducted a series of qualitative interviews with key stakeholders. These interviews were designed to gather insights from individuals and organisations directly involved in or impacted by the delivery of *Plan 21–24*. Stakeholder interviews were essential to complement and contextualise the findings from the evidence review, offering a more nuanced understanding of the complexities involved in the implementation process.

- 1. **Stakeholder Selection:** We identified 10 key organisations that are central to the delivery and monitoring of *Plan 21–24*. These organisations were selected based on their roles and interests to different aspects of the plan, ensuring a diverse range of perspectives. Interviewees included representatives from government bodies, non–governmental organisations, service providers, advocacy groups, and academic experts. The selection of these stakeholders was purposive, ensuring that a range of experiences and expertise was captured.
- 2. **Interview Design:** The interviews were semi-structured, allowing for both consistency across interviews and the flexibility to explore specific topics in greater depth where necessary. The interview guide was developed in collaboration with *The Promise Scotland* to ensure alignment with the plan's objectives. It focused on key areas such as stakeholders' perceptions of progress towards *Plan 21–24* goals, the challenges and barriers they faced, the factors that have facilitated or hindered implementation, and the broader impact of these actions on children, young people, and families.



- 3. **Data Collection:** Interviews were conducted virtually, with participants' consent, and lasted between 45 minutes to an hour. Interview recordings were transcribed verbatim to ensure the accuracy of the data and then coded for analysis.
- 4. Thematic Analysis: Following the coding process, we conducted a detailed thematic analysis of the interview data. This involved identifying common themes and insights, such as the effectiveness of specific interventions, gaps in service provision, and opportunities for future improvement. The analysis was used to triangulate findings from the evidence review and to uncover new insights that may not have been captured in the existing literature or data.
- 5. **Integration with Evidence Review:** Finally, the findings from the stakeholder interviews were synthesised with the results of the evidence review to form a comprehensive evaluation of progress. The integration of these two data sources provided a richer, more complete understanding of the implementation of *Plan 21–24*, highlighting both successes and areas for improvement.

#### Limitations

Despite the strengths of the methodology, there are some limitations that should be acknowledged:

- Scope of Evidence: The reliance on desk-based research means that we were dependent on the availability and quality of existing data, which may not always fully capture recent or emerging developments. While the evidence review was comprehensive, gaps in publicly available data might have limited the depth of analysis in some areas.
- Stakeholder Sample: Although qualitative interviews provided valuable insights, the relatively small sample size of 10 stakeholders may not fully represent the diversity of all those involved in the delivery of *Plan 21–24*. The stakeholders interviewed were primarily representatives of organisations, meaning that individual experiences, particularly from frontline staff or service users, might not be fully reflected.
- Absence of Direct Voices of young people with lived experience: Importantly, we did not
  conduct any interviews with children or young people currently in the care system or with
  lived experience of care. Although secondary sources and stakeholder interviews provided
  some insights into their experiences, direct engagement with children and young was not
  requested to be carried out as part of this commission.



## **Presentation and Interpretation of Findings**

This report first presents an overview of the reflections of stakeholders who took part in interviews as part of this evaluation. The report then takes each priority area in turn, assessing the extent of progress on each action which makes up the priority area.

Each section then provides a summary of the results of the analysis of evidence in relation to each action.

Please note that where the term 'Looked after' is used, this is in relation to datasets and legislation where this is the terminology used.



# **Overview of Progress**

The Promise Plan 21–24, integral to the broader work to keep the promise across Scotland, underscores Scotland's commitment to improving the lives of children, young people, adults and families with experience or contact with the 'care system' and to investing in early help and support for families.

Stakeholders interviewed acknowledged this commitment, but concerns were raised regarding the plan's effectiveness due to its broad scope, lack of measurable success indicators, and inclusion of some seemingly unattainable goals. Notably, several objectives set for 2024 remain unmet, highlighting the need for renewed efforts to achieve targets by 2030.

Despite these challenges, there have been significant achievements linked to the Plan over the course of Plan 21–24 driven by shared desire to Keep the Promise.

Progress includes heightened awareness of children's voices and participation, key legislative changes, and some evidence of alignment of local authority plans with the priorities identified in the promise. The promise is widely viewed as a vital driver for change, essential for realising Scotland's vision for child protection, care and support. Addressing existing challenges and mapping out a clear path to achieve the aims of the promise by 2030 is crucial.

#### **Key Achievements**

Efforts to increase participation in decision-making and raise awareness of the importance of listening to children and families have led to greater instances of children and families' voices being heard in decisions that affect them. <u>Enhanced collaboration</u> among public, private, and voluntary-sector organisations has resulted in notable changes. These include language transformation in care settings, reductions in school exclusions, changes in the practices and language around the use of restraint, and significant legislative reforms.

Despite implementation challenges, there has been a robust commitment to the promise, evidenced by leadership capacity building, trauma-informed practices, anti-poverty measures, and improvements in family support. Significant progress has been made in priority areas such as education, legislation, language, and planned reforms in the Children's Hearings System. The



Scottish Parliament has also enacted several key legislative measures, which have resulted in advances to meet the conclusions of the promise such as the <u>United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Incorporation) (Scotland) Act</u> and the <u>Children (Care and Justice) (Scotland) Act</u>.

### Systemic challenges to keeping the promise

Challenges in resource allocation, particularly in maintaining adequate funding for local authorities, have impacted the effectiveness of work to deliver the promise. Sustained financial support across the sector is critical. Additionally, there are ongoing difficulties in collecting, analysing, and monitoring data around outcomes for children and families engaged in the care system; data collected tend to be disconnected from the experience of individuals surrounding the care system, necessitating clear metrics for measuring impact. This presents a challenge in assessing the extent of progress towards the commitments set out in Plan 21-24.

Addressing workforce support and retention is imperative, as current asks of Plan 21-24 are seen to impose additional responsibilities on an already stretched workforce. Better communication and collaborative working between services in and around the care system and comprehensive community-based support are essential for improving outcomes for children and families. Robust evaluation mechanisms, clear accountability frameworks, and a detailed route map with tangible actions and deadlines are necessary for driving effective change.

Efforts should also focus on addressing systemic issues such as poverty, the cost of living crisis, and the lingering effects of COVID-19, which pose significant challenges to meeting conclusions of the Independent Care Review. Systemic change and policy coherence are crucial for addressing root causes effectively, requiring the development of coherent policies, necessary legislative changes, and simplified governance structures. Increased financial transparency and careful fund allocation and considerations in terms of commissioning, procurement and longer-term funding are critical to ensure the conclusions of the promise are met.



### Summary of key findings

Several headline findings from the assessment of The Promise Scotland's Plan 21–24 and its implementation outcomes are outlined here. Moving forward, emphasising these points could strengthen the impact of efforts across actors towards ensuring the promise is kept by 2030:

- 1. The Importance of Implementing Measurable Success Indicators and Data Practices: Stakeholders expressed a desire for clear and measurable success indicators aligned with each action in Plan 24–30. It was suggested this would facilitate effective monitoring and evaluation, allowing stakeholders to track progress more accurately and make informed adjustments as needed. Additionally, standardising regular reporting against these indicators across all implementing bodies would ensure transparency and accountability. The evidence also indicates that capabilities in collecting, analysing, and monitoring data related to outcomes for children and families could be enhanced moving forward. This would provide a more robust evidence base for decision-making, facilitate benchmarking against targets, and identify areas requiring additional intervention or adjustment. Therefore, The Promise Progress Framework has the potential to improve the measurement of progress against the promise.
- 2. A Need for Strengthened Workforce Support and Integration: Evidence and stakeholder interviews highlighted a need for strategies to support workforce recruitment and retention, without adding to already significant workloads. This could be achieved through targeted training programmes, enhanced career development opportunities, and improved support mechanisms for frontline workers. Fostering joint working across services by promoting interdisciplinary collaboration and establishing clear communication channels between agencies involved in child protection, care and support was also emphasised as a necessity.
- 3. The Importance of Addressing External Influences: Recognising and understanding how systemic issues such as poverty, the cost-of-living crisis, and post-pandemic challenges impact what can be achieved under the promise's objectives is paramount to developing an achievable plan and must be accounted for when assessing Plan 24-30. Those involved in delivering the promise should advocate for policy and changes to governance structures



by fostering cross-sector partnerships to leverage resources and expertise to effectively address these where possible.

**4.** The Value of Regularly Monitoring Progress Throughout Plan 24-30: This assessment of Plan 21-24 demonstrates the importance of ongoing monitoring. Given that Plan 24-30 will be the final plan upon which the commitment to Keep The Promise will be judged, there is a need for regular independent analysis throughout the lifetime of this plan to ensure that there is sufficient information and monitoring to be able to address known issues before the life of the plan ends.

These key findings summarise the actions which are essential for realising the broader vision of the promise and ensuring that Scotland remains committed to creating a supportive and nurturing environment for all children and young people. They also indicate how Scotland can best build upon the achievements of Plan 21–24, address existing challenges, and pave the way for sustained improvements in the lives of children, adults and families in care and on the edges of care.



# Overview from Stakeholder Interviews

Stakeholders offered varied perspectives on Plan 21–24's clarity and effectiveness in delineating objectives and guiding structural reforms. While some lauded its ambition and role in catalysing necessary shifts across workforce, resourcing, and structural challenges, criticisms centred on its high-level approach, broad nature of its aims and the absence of specific, measurable outcomes and an evaluation framework from the outset.

"It's difficult to evaluate the success of a plan or evaluate a plan without any success measures or all success measures within it... So there's some things, very clear local decision, local delivery, other things at a national level like ending homelessness, a local authority is not going to be able to do that on its own."

"There was too much in it... too many unquantifiable statements and too many sort of priorities within it that were not fully considered or fully engaged or fully worked through."

Despite these challenges, Plan 21–24 achieved some successes in the eyes of stakeholders. Some interviewees felt the Plan had prompted some progress by aligning stakeholders around some common priorities and catalysed some collaboration across organisations. Additional achievements cited by stakeholders include changes in language around care, reductions in school exclusions and notable reforms, such as to the children's hearing system.

Critical challenges highlighted in the interviews included resource constraints, particularly in local authority budgets and workforce support. Stakeholders consistently emphasised the strain on core resources and insufficient funding, which hindered sustained progress aligned with Plan 21–24's objectives.

Workforce issues, such as retention problems and inadequate training, were also identified as major barriers demanding urgent attention.

"Our workforce lacks the resources needed to effectively deliver on the promise. We struggle with retention and training, which undermines our ability to provide consistent, quality care."



Effective stakeholder engagement emerged as crucial for the successful implementation of Plan 21-24. There was strong consensus among interviewees on the need for more inclusive planning processes that actively involve care experienced individuals, frontline workers, and communities. Clearer communication strategies and robust accountability frameworks were emphasised to enhance transparency, build trust, and ensure all stakeholders remain accountable for delivering on the conclusions of the Independent Care Review. Some participants urged The Promise Scotland to lean into its role as a potential convenor to mobilise organisations and provide greater direction, leveraging the organisation's political capital and will to deliver the promise.

A recurring theme across interviews was the imperative need for comprehensive evaluation mechanisms in any future plans which were seen by some to be absent at the outset of Plan 21–24. Interviewees stressed the importance of ongoing evaluation to measure impact, clarify responsibilities, and adapt strategies in response to evolving needs and challenges.

"Evaluation is critical to understanding what works and what doesn't. It's imperative that we refine our approach to ensure lasting improvements in our 'care system'."

Looking ahead, stakeholders highlighted the necessity to streamline legislative frameworks, enhance workforce development strategies, and align policies more effectively to sustain momentum beyond the initial plan period.

Yet throughout, stakeholders underscored a collective commitment to overcoming these obstacles and advancing towards a more inclusive, effective 'care system' that prioritises the needs and voices of vulnerable children and families across Scotland.

In conclusion, while Plan 21-24 has marked significant progress in Scotland's 'care system', formidable challenges lie ahead, all of which require concerted efforts from all stakeholders. Clearer objectives, enhanced resource allocation, improved workforce support, and robust evaluation frameworks are essential to navigate complexities and sustain transformative changes in the lives of children, families and care experienced adults across Scotland. The interviews reflected on both achievements and areas requiring urgent attention, reflecting ongoing efforts to build a more responsive and supportive 'care system'.



# **Priority Area 1: A Good Childhood**

#### **Overview**

Priority Area 1 of Plan 21-24 is 'A Good Childhood'. This area seeks to ensure every child in Scotland grows up loved, safe and respected so they can realise their full potential. This includes providing stable and nurturing care, focusing on the child's rights, and maintaining their relationships with family and friends.

Priority Area 1 contains 8 actions, namely:

- Support
- A right to an education
- Relationships
- Brothers and Sisters
- Youth Justice
- Advocacy
- Moving on
- Physical Intervention

These actions are assessed in this section, summarising conclusions from the analysis of evidence and stakeholder interviews on each.

#### **Support**

- Every child that is 'in care' in Scotland will have access to intensive support that ensures their educational and health needs are fully met.
- Local Authorities and Health Boards will take active responsibility towards care experienced children and young people, whatever their setting of care, so they have what they need to thrive

see the promise, pages 51 and 89



There have been steps in expanding support services tailored to the needs of care experienced children, aiming to enhance their overall wellbeing and stability. Progress can be observed in the development of targeted help and support aimed at promoting resilience and improving outcomes for care experienced children and young people such as support for further education. These efforts demonstrate a commitment to providing comprehensive support that addresses both immediate needs and long-term development.

However, challenges remain, particularly in ensuring equitable access to support across all regions and addressing gaps in service provision for specific demographics within the care experienced population. The availability of consistent funding and resources also impacts the sustainability and effectiveness of available and appropriate help.

The <u>"Children's services reform research: Scotland's children's services landscape: The views and experiences of the children's services workforce</u>," conducted by the Centre for Excellence for Children's Care and Protection (CELCIS) gathered insights from over 1,400 members of the workforce through a survey, focus groups, and interviews. Participants included professionals from social work, health, education, early learning and childcare, police, and voluntary sector services, representing all local authority areas in Scotland. The combination of extensive responses and detailed insights provides a robust evidence base to assess Scotland's children's services landscape from the workforce's perspective.

Two relevant findings to the action relating to support services in Plan 21–24 emerged prominently from the data gathered by CELCIS. First, the quality of practice within local services was rated highly, with 74% of respondents considering it to be 'very good' or 'good'. Second, the time it takes for children, young people, and families to access necessary services was a significant concern, with 56% of respondents rating it as 'poor' or 'very poor'. These findings highlight strengths in service quality but also significant challenges in service accessibility.

The most recent data on <u>Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)</u> waiting times to the quarter ending March 2024 shows that 86.0% of children and young people were seen within 18 weeks of referral, which is an increase from 83.8% for the previous quarter and from the 74.2% for the same quarter ending March 2023. The Scottish Government standard states that 90% of



children and young people should start treatment within 18 weeks of referral to CAMHS. It does, however, have to be noted that significant number of children are inappropriately referred to CAMHS in the absence of other help and support services.

When considering support for unaccompanied asylum- seeking children to be treated as 'looked after' children, we see evidence from <u>Glasgow's Virtual School</u> whereby they have worked in partnership with the Volunteer Tutor Organisation to develop a successful tutoring intervention for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children,

Social Work Scotland also noted in their response to Plan 24–30 that they have been working closely with Scottish Government, Cosla and other partners to progress key area of development including co-leading roundtable events to address the foster care crisis, fostering partnerships between national and local governments and third sectors to improve foster carers' status and support, jointly chairing the Kinship Care Collaborative to support kinship carers, including updating guidance and developing an assessment framework., participating in the Staying Together and Connected Implementation Group to advance sibling support and addressed standards affecting sibling placements and working on policies for unaccompanied asylumseeking children and children from Ukraine to ensure equitable access and cultural acknowledgment.

Overall, according to this research, there has been moderate progress towards achieving this action, with significant actions having been taken. Scotland has made steps in expanding support services for care experienced children, however ongoing efforts are essential to address remaining gaps, enhance service accessibility, and ensure that all children receive the support they need to thrive.



### A Right to an Education

- Care experienced children and young people will receive all they need to thrive at school.
   There will be no barriers to their engagement with education and schools will know and cherish their care experienced pupils.
- School improvement plans will value and recognise the needs of their care experienced pupils with robust tracking of attendance and attainment so that support can be given early.
- Care experienced young people will be actively participating in all subjects and extracurricular activities in schools.
- o The formal and informal exclusion of care experienced children from education will end.
- Schools will support and ensure care experienced young people go on to genuinely positive destinations, such as further education or employment

see the promise, pages 71 to 72

Scotland has made significant strides in advancing the right to education for care experienced children, aiming to provide equitable access and support. Efforts have included the implementation of specific help and support aimed at improving educational outcomes. These aim to reduce the attainment gap between care experienced children and their peers, which historically has been a significant challenge.

The progress can be seen in the development of support mechanisms to enhance post-school destinations and clarify the responsibilities of educational institutions and caregivers. This reflects a proactive approach to ensuring that care experienced young people have the necessary resources and guidance to navigate their further educational journey successfully.

For example, in 2019 the Scottish Government and all 18 universities and higher education institutions agreed to guarantee offers to care experienced applicants who met the minimum entry requirements for any course they applied for via the <u>Guaranteed Offer</u>. In addition to this, the <u>Care Experienced Bursary</u> was launched in 2019 which provides support for anyone who has ever been



looked after by a local authority in the UK before turning 18, in a foster home, children's home, a List D school, a Borstal or close support unit.

The funding package is worth up to £11,400 and includes tuition fees, a non-income assessed Care Experienced Students Bursary of £9,000 and a non-income assessed student loan of £2,400. From 2024-25, care experienced students will also be able to apply for a <u>Special Support Loan</u> worth £2,400.

Since 2015/16 the number of care experienced students studying for an undergraduate degree at a Scottish university has grown from 445 (0.5 per cent of all undergraduates) to 1,685 (1.9 per cent) in 2020/21, an increase of almost 280 per cent.

According to the Renewing the Alliance for Fair Access Annual Report 2024 from the Commissioner for Fair Access, progress has been made in increasing the number and proportion of entrants to Higher Education with care experience from the Commission for Widening Access (CoWA) Core Target group. The number of care experienced entrants who are from SIMD1 areas has increased from 25 in 2013–14 to 145 in 2021–22 and the proportion of care experienced entrants who are from SIMD1 areas has increased from 16.2% in 2013–14 to 26.5% in 2021–22. However, the relative share of care experienced entrants from SIMD1 areas fell between 2020–21 and 2021–22 (from 32% to 26.5%), as the number of care experienced entrants from SIMD1 areas fell from 155 to 145.

There are specific options for help and support aimed at helping care experienced young people in education. For example, The Enhanced Learning Tutoring Initiative (ELTI) at Queen Margaret University was set up during Covid-19. It is a high school tutoring programme aimed at responding to the educational challenges faced by disadvantaged and care experienced young people by providing tutoring sessions to eligible S4–S6 pupils in East Lothian and Midlothian. Over 300 pupils take part each year.

There is also the <u>Hub for Success</u> which is a partnership organisation that supports care experienced students to get in, stay in, and return to college or university. They bring together the City of Edinburgh Council and the colleges and universities of the Edinburgh and Lothians. They



offer bespoke one-to-one information, advice and support for care experienced learners who are in or thinking of applying to our partner institutions.

Despite these efforts, challenges remain in achieving consistent outcomes across all regions. Variability in the implementation of support frameworks and the effectiveness of partnership working between educational institutions and health and social care services pose ongoing obstacles. Data transparency and the monitoring of educational attainment also require improvement to accurately assess progress and target help and support effectively.

Scottish Government statistics on school exclusions show that in <u>2018-19 there were 884 children</u> who were 'looked after' excluded, compared to 618 in 2022-23.

The Promise Report Card 2020–2024 by Who Cares? Scotland reveals significant issues and some progress regarding the exclusion of care experienced children from education in Scotland. Despite a commitment to ending these exclusions, their research shows that 23 local authorities still formally and informally exclude care experienced pupils, often reducing their school hours drastically without official documentation. This practice perpetuates educational disadvantage, leading to poorer outcomes for these pupils. A notable positive development is that one local authority has stopped excluding care experienced pupils, with two others planning to follow suit. However, the lack of comprehensive data and concrete target dates from most local authorities hinders effective monitoring and progress toward the promise's goals.

The report highlights the impact of various absences on care experienced pupils, contributing to their lower educational attainment and earlier school leaving compared to their peers. These absences often stem from required meetings with social workers and attendance at Children's Hearings, exacerbating the challenges faced by these pupils. It should be noted, the Children's Hearings System is testing <a href="mailto:child-friendly scheduling">child-friendly scheduling</a>, allowing children to choose the date, time and location of their hearing, which could help combat these attendance inequalities.

The introduction and expansion of <u>Virtual School Head Teachers since 2018</u> have shown positive effects by addressing part-time timetabling issues, facilitating support services, and combating discrimination within schools. Despite these efforts, the continued interruptions and exclusions signify that Scotland is not yet meeting the educational commitments for care experienced pupils



set out in the promise, indicating a need for more decisive and coordinated action across all local authorities. Additionally, equitable access to community resources such as <u>extracurricular</u> <u>activities</u> remains a challenge due to a lack of affordable options.

Overall, while there has been substantial progress in recognising and addressing the educational needs of care experienced children in Scotland, sustained efforts are needed to achieve universal improvements and ensure that all children have equal access to quality education and support services.

### Relationships

- o All children living in and around Scotland's 'care system' will be maintaining safe, loving relationships that are important to them.
- There will be no barriers to 'contact' and children will be supported to have time with people they care about.

see the promise, page 63

The assessment of relationships for care experienced children reflects on the critical importance of maintaining stable and supportive connections with significant others. Scotland has taken commendable steps towards supporting these relationships, emphasising the importance of maintaining bonds with siblings and other family members wherever possible.

Progress is evident in efforts and policies aimed at reducing barriers to maintaining relationships, such as moving children long-distances and communication challenges. For example, following the <u>Care Inspectorate's work exploring distance placements</u> and their impacts, they made recommendations including only accepting distance placements if providers can ensure children are able to have direct contact with their families, friends and people important to them.

However, <u>challenges persist</u>, particularly concerning resource limitations and disparities in access to <u>digital communication tools</u>. This is particularly true for <u>families in poverty</u>; parents have cited additional emotional and financial stress due to travel requirements and expectations to bring gifts to visits. These factors can hinder the stability and safety of relationships for care experienced



children, impacting their emotional well-being and overall development. For example, a lack of positive relationship with an adult was identified as <u>a major risk factor for child criminal exploitation.</u>

While there has been moderate progress on this area across Scotland according to this research, the extent of progress varies across regions, with some areas demonstrating robust support frameworks while others lag behind in consistency and accessibility. Addressing these disparities and ensuring equitable access to meaningful relationships remains a priority to safeguard the rights and well-being of all care experienced children in Scotland.

#### **Brothers and Sisters**

- o Scotland will stop the practice of separating brothers and sisters, unless for reasons of safety.
- Relationships between brothers and sisters will be cherished and protected across decision making and through the culture and values of the people who care for them

see the promise, page 62

Scotland has made some progress in prioritising the preservation of sibling relationships among care experienced children, aiming to prevent unnecessary separations except where safety concerns dictate otherwise. The number of brothers and sisters separated reduced. In November 2023, at an evidence session of the Education, Children and Young People Committee of the Scottish Parliament the number of sibling groups separated in care settings was cited as 25%.

Local councils and health boards in Scotland are responsible for implementing care and protection measures, including ensuring the legal entitlements of siblings under the <u>Children (Scotland) Act 2020</u>. This legislation mandates that local authorities promote personal relationships and direct contact between children and their siblings or those in sibling-like relationships. However, many local authorities struggle to provide accurate data on whether siblings are living together or the reasons for their separation. This issue is exacerbated by the broad definition of 'sibling,' which includes half-siblings, adult siblings, those with different surnames, and sibling-like relationships. Research with 70 infants who became looked after away from home between April 2018 and



March 2019 by the Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (SCRA) revealed that <u>only one in</u> <u>five infants (12) who were looked after away from home were placed with their siblings</u>. This figure increased to 17 infants just two years later, although this still represented less than a third of those known to have at least one sibling.

The Staying Together and Connected National Implementation Group (STAC), chaired by the Scottish Government and CELCIS, is working to support the implementation of sibling connection and cohabitation, with recommendations and a <u>final report</u> published in Summer 2023. The group's efforts include improving data collection and monitoring, critical for fostering arrangements that enable siblings to stay together. Despite challenges in recruiting foster carers and a decline in foster care households, the number of family groups separated in foster care has not worsened since 2017, likely due to increased focus on keeping siblings together.

To address the ongoing challenges, local authorities have introduced staff training on legislative changes and the importance of sibling relationships. Efforts are underway to increase the availability of homes where siblings can stay together, recruit more foster carers and adoptive parents for sibling groups, and support families to stay together.

Some progress can be seen in advocacy efforts, guidance developed for practitioners and legislative changes aimed at embedding sibling rights within the decision-making processes of care services. These developments, including actions such as the Promise Partnership funded Association for Fostering, Kinship and Adoption's <u>evaluation of the Siblings Reunited (STAR)</u> <u>service</u> in 2022–2023, reflect a commitment to recognising and upholding the importance of sibling relationships in the lives of care experienced children.

The work taking place towards implementing the conclusions of the Independent Care Review and enacting the sibling legislation has meant that more conversations are taking place between children and their social workers around their sibling relationships. They are also now being consistently asked about these within Children's Hearings and as of January 2023, siblings can apply for legal aid to participate in their brother or sister's Children's Hearings, increasing the likelihood of them maintaining a meaningful relationship. There is, however, still a lack of consistency in terms of the information which is provided on supporting brothers and sisters' relationships prior to a Children's Hearing.



However, challenges remain, particularly concerning data recording and consistency in practice. Variations in decision-making processes and the interpretation of sibling rights highlight the need for clearer guidelines to ensure that all siblings receive equitable support.

Overall, according to this research, while Scotland has made substantial progress in promoting sibling relationships for care experienced children, ongoing efforts are essential to address remaining challenges and ensure that, when safe and appropriate, sibling bonds are consistently protected and prioritised within the 'care system'.

#### **Youth Justice**

- o The disproportionate criminalisation of care experienced children and young people will end.
- 16- and 17-year-olds will no longer be placed in Young Offenders Institutes for sentence or on remand.
- There will be sufficient community-based alternatives so that detention is a last resort.
- Children who do need to have their liberty restricted will be cared for in small, secure, safe, trauma-informed environments that uphold their rights

see the promise, pages 89 to 91

Scotland's approach to youth justice for children in conflict with the law aims to emphasise preventative measures and community-based alternatives to detention, reflecting a commitment to reducing the disproportionate criminalisation of care experienced young people. Legislative changes, such as those enacted through the <a href="Children (Care and Justice">Children (Care and Justice)</a> (Scotland) Act 2024, will increase access to the Children's Hearings System for 16- and 17-year-olds. It will also ensure no child is held in a Young Offenders Institution.

According to <u>Scottish Prison Service data</u>, there were 7 children in custody aged 16–17 compared to 19 on 4 June 2021 and 49 on 9 June 2017.



Progress is evident in policies and programmes such as the <u>Whole System Approach</u> to young offending, which promote child-friendly practices and trauma-informed approaches within the justice system aiming to address the underlying factors contributing to children coming into conflict with the law. For instance, investment in the <u>Bairns' Hoose model</u> to provide children in the justice system with therapeutic and trauma-informed support; currently, only one Bairns' Hoose is operational in Scotland, with a scope limited to child victims and witnesses, although there are plans to expand this approach. Other child-friendly and trauma-informed approaches include Evidence by Commissioner facilities, which allow vulnerable witnesses to give evidence away from the courtroom. The Scottish Government <u>has recently announced plans</u> to expand these facilities, meaning that suites will be available throughout Scotland by April 2026.

The establishment of the Glasgow Youth Court is another example of a programme that demonstrates a significant development for 16–24 year olds who come into conflict with the law; however, <u>evaluation of this programme</u> notes areas of improvement, including in the information provided to young people appearing in Youth Courts, in the layout of the court itself, and in the language used in the courtroom, to better reflect the rights of young people.

CELCIS research on children's services reform identified data trends which suggest a decrease in the number of children involved in youth justice processes or referred to the Children's Reporter on offence grounds and fewer children and young people aged 12 to 20 having a criminal case brought against them during the COVID-19 pandemic, indicating some positive impacts of help and support.

However, challenges persist in achieving consistent implementation of the measures, policies and programmes discussed above across regions, making it difficult to ensure the rights of care experienced young people are upheld, such as the right to not <u>be punished in a cruel or unnecessary way</u>, throughout the justice process. <u>Disparities in sentencing outcomes</u> and access to supportive services highlight ongoing systemic issues that require sustained attention.

Overall, while Scotland has made substantial progress towards improving youth justice outcomes for children in conflict with the law, continued efforts are needed to achieve equitable and rights-based outcomes within the justice system, ensuring that all young people receive appropriate help and support.



### **Advocacy**

- All care experienced children and their families will have access to independent advocacy at all stages of their experience of care.
- o Advocacy provision will follow the principles set out in the promise.
- Care experienced children and young people will be able to easily access child centred legal advice and representation.

see the promise, pages 114 to 116

In terms of advocacy, the Scottish Government's ambition to develop a lifelong advocacy service for those who are care experienced is clear. The Scottish Independent Advocacy Alliance defines independent advocacy to be 'about speaking up for, and standing alongside individuals or groups, and not being influenced by the views of others. Fundamentally, it is about everyone having the right to a voice.'

The promise states, "care experienced children and adults must have the right and access to independent advocacy, at all stages of their experience of care and beyond." The Hearings System Working Group Redesign Report, Hearings for Children, was produced in response to the promise's conclusion that the underlying structures of the Children's Hearings System should be redesigned so that they are better placed to listen to children and families. The Redesign Report recommended the extension of advocacy including to children and families 'on the edges of care' or working voluntarily alongside local authorities.

The Scottish Government committed to supporting The Promise Scotland to scope a national lifelong advocacy service for care experienced people and their families ('national lifelong advocacy service') and has started consultation on this.

In December 2023, The Promise Scotland published a paper entitled <u>Scoping and delivering a national lifelong advocacy service for care experienced children, adults and families</u>. This paper scopes the core issues and identifies the core principles that should underpin a national lifelong advocacy service. It sets out a path towards delivery, identifying how it should be operationalised and what can be done to realise the conclusions of the promise with respect to advocacy and



upholding the rights of care experienced children, adults and families. This paper was shared with the Scottish Government, who are currently considering next steps.

Who Cares? Scotland set up their <u>helpline</u> for Care Experienced people in 2020 in response to the Covid- 19 pandemic. It has since evolved to be the National Advocacy Helpline which is an advocacy service which provides support to care experienced people of all ages. Since its launch, it has taken over 3,500 calls.

However, challenges persist, including disparities in advocacy provision across local authorities and high demand for advocacy related to complex legal and financial issues. For example, whilst the My Rights, My Say service has been highlighted as creating opportunity for young people to participate in decisions which affect them, particularly related to education, Partners in Advocacy found insufficient capacity for demand, with a persistent waiting list of at least 30 people at a time, as well as age restrictions regarding who can access the service. Additionally, Research by Who Cares? Scotland found that out of 29 local authorities that responded. 13 said they do not currently provide independent advocacy services for care experienced people at all stages of their lives. These disparities can impact the effectiveness of advocacy services and hinder the ability of care experienced individuals to navigate the 'care system' effectively.

Overall, according to this research, while Scotland has substantial progress agreeing that advocacy services for care experienced children and families is vital, ongoing efforts are essential to address accessibility gaps, improve service accessibility, and increase awareness amongst care experienced children and adults about their rights and available support.



#### **Moving On**

- Decisions about transitions for young care experienced people who move onto independent living or need to return to a caring environment, will be made based on individual need.
- Each young care experienced adult will experience their transition as consistent, caring, integrated and focussed on their needs, not on 'age of services' criteria.
- Housing pathways for care experienced young people will include a range of affordable options that are specifically tailored to their needs and preferences. Youth homelessness will be eradicated.

see the promise, pages 68 and 92-93

Transition support for care experienced young people moving towards independent living in Scotland remains a complex area with significant progress and ongoing challenges. Efforts to provide comprehensive life skills training and practical support for young adults leaving care reflect positive steps towards ensuring successful transitions. For instance, in 2022, Scottish Government committed to investing up to £45 million in the 'Young Person's Guarantee' which provides employability skills and employment opportunities to young people who need them. Scottish Government also committed to developing a School Leavers' Toolkit to provide practical information on topics such as budgeting and finances for young people transitioning into adulthood.

The extent of progress can be seen in initiatives aimed at improving housing transitions and preventing youth homelessness, such as the 'housing first' approach, although challenges in accessing affordable housing options persist. Variability in service quality and gaps in coordination between housing providers and support services highlight systemic issues that impact the stability and wellbeing of care experienced young people during transitions.

In terms of eradicating youth homelessness, the <u>latest homelessness statistics</u> for Scotland show there were 32,242 homeless households in 2022–23, containing a total of 53,111 people:



36,848 adults and 16,263 children. Compared to the previous year, the number of adults increased by 11% and the number of children increased by 10%, in line with the overall increase of 10% in homeless households.

The 16-24 year old cohort account for some 22% of all homeless households in Scotland, despite equating to just 12% of the population. Over 8,000 homelessness applications were made by young people aged 16-24, with an 11% increase in homeless applications from young people experiencing mental ill-health.

There are also more households than ever in temporary accommodation at 15,036, an increase of 6% from the previous year. The number of children in temporary accommodation is also at a record high at 9,595 as of 31 March 2023, an increase of 9% from the previous year.

There were 1,067 homeless households that contained a household member under 25 that had been looked after by their local authority as a child. This accounts for 5% of all households with a household member under the age of 25. The increase of 10% is in line with overall homeless households.

In addition to being at <u>higher risk for housing insecurity</u>, lack of support during the transition into independent life puts young people at greater <u>risk of criminal exploitation</u> and coming into conflict with the law. Young care leavers have experience being dismissed when trying to access support from social services, which intensifies the existing barriers to seeking support, such as <u>stigma</u> around the label of 'care leaver'.

Overall, Scotland has made initial steps towards these actions according to this research. While there are examples of good practice and commitment to supporting transitions, ongoing efforts are needed to address housing disparities, enhance life skills development, and ensure that all care experienced young adults have access to the resources necessary for independent living and long-term success.



#### **Physical Intervention**

- All care experienced children, wherever they live, will be protected from violence and experience the safeguard of equal protection legislation.
- Restraint will always be pain free, will be used rarely, and only when required to keep a child safe.
- There will be well communicated and understood guidance in place that upholds children's rights and reflects equal protection legislation.
- The workforce will feel supported to respond to behaviour in a trauma informed way that reflects a deep understanding of the children in their care.

see the promise, pages 85 to 86

Scotland's efforts to reduce physical intervention practices for care experienced children reflect a multifaceted approach aimed at promoting safety, dignity, and trauma-informed care within care settings. Efforts to minimise the use of restraint through training, policy development such as the Scottish Government's guidance for Physical intervention in schools and the Rethinking Restraint Pilot, and culture change within care environments signify progress towards improving safety measures. This includes the proposal of Calum's Law, which would make restraint guidelines in schools legally enforceable, and require training for teachers on de-escalation strategies.

The extent of progress varies across settings, with some institutions demonstrating significant reductions in physical intervention incidents. However, challenges remain concerning data accuracy, inconsistencies in reporting practices, and the need for standardised terminology and guidelines to ensure that physical intervention is eliminated. Along these lines, The Promise Scotland and the Children's Commissioner have called for the Scottish Government to <u>put in place</u> a coherent statutory framework on restraint and seclusion across all settings in which children are <u>under the care and/or supervision of the State</u>.

Overall, while Scotland has made moderate progress in promoting safer care environments for care experienced children according to this research, sustained efforts are essential to address



remaining challenges and ensure that all interactions prioritise the safety, well-being, and dignity of children in care.



# **Priority Area 2: Whole Family Support**

#### **Overview**

Priority Area 2 of Plan 21–24 is 'Whole Family Support'. This area seeks to provide holistic help and support to keep families safely together and, wherever possible, to prevent children from entering the 'care system'. An emphasis has been placed on prioritising and developing early help and support to address the root causes of family distress and wellbeing needs. Priority Area 2 is comprised of 4 actions, namely:

- Family Support
- Peer and Community Support
- Service Integration
- Family Therapies

The remainder of this section assesses each of these actions, summarising conclusions from the analysis of evidence and stakeholder interviews.

## **Family Support**

 The 10 principles of intensive family support will be embedded into the practice (planning, commissioning and delivery) of all organisations that support children and their families, directly or indirectly.

Holistic and relational

- Therapeutic
- Non-stigmatising
- Patient and persistent
- Underpinned by children's rights

- Community Based
- Responsive and timely
- Work with family assets
- Empowerment and agency
- Flexible

see the promise, pages 57 to 58



According to the <u>Scottish Government's 'Looked After' Children statistics</u>, as of 31 July 2023, 12,206 children were looked after, of whom 20% were placed at home and 80% away from home. This is the lowest this figure has been since 2006.

The number of children looked after has decreased by 2% since 2022 and by 24% since 2013. The majority of looked after children (89%) were placed in community settings. The most common community placements for looked after children were kinship care (34%), foster care (22%), and at home with parents (20%). A smaller proportion of children (11%) were looked after in residential accommodation settings.

Efforts to embed intensive family support principles in Scotland have shown moderate progress, Investments like the Whole Family Wellbeing Funding demonstrate progress by supporting the transformation of access to early help and support for families aligned with the promise's principles of family support and Scotland's national blueprint.

Addressing adoption breakdowns has also seen some progress, with reported cases declining since the promise was made, indicating ongoing efforts in this area. However, inconsistent data collection remains a challenge, highlighting the need for better planning and resource allocation to strengthen support services and prevent adoption breakdowns effectively. Supporting parents with mental health needs has shown to have positive impacts on family wellbeing. Attention has been focused on perinatal mental health with funding allocated through community mental health work, parental employability programs, and family support services for life story and trauma recovery. Key initiatives include the Communities Mental Health and Wellbeing Fund, Family Nurse Partnership, Bookbug, Baby Box, and the Universal Health Visiting Pathway. Continued advocacy and policy alignment are necessary to ensure comprehensive support for families facing mental health challenges.

Some improvements have also been made regarding supporting the needs of foster and kinship carers, including the introduction of the <u>Scottish Recommended Allowance</u> in 2023, which ensures all kinship and foster carers receive at least the standard national allowance to support them and the children and young people they care for. In CELCIS's <u>Children's Services Support Research</u>, support and services for foster and kinship carers were noted as improvements made in local services. Nevertheless, numerous challenges for kinship and foster carers were identified in this



study, including a shortage of foster carers and unsuitable housing options for kinship carers. Moreover, in line with findings around other actions, kinship and foster carers have reported significant <u>communication gaps and delays</u> regarding vital information including that related to health, behavioural or cultural needs of the children and young people they care for,

Overall, while Scotland has made moderate progress in embedding intensive family support principles through investments like the Whole Family Wellbeing Fund, addressing adoption breakdowns, supporting parents with mental health needs, and aligning policies and funding, further collaboration and resource allocation are needed to advance implementation across the nation.

### **Peer and Community Support**

There will be a consistent, national approach to ensure there are places in every community for parents of young children to meet other local parents, to stay and play with their children, and get support and advice.

see the promise, page 49

The COVID-19 pandemic has emphasised the <u>importance of community support initiatives</u> in Scotland, particularly as the negative effects of families' narrowed social networks and lack of community resources persist. These impacts are more likely to be experienced by families living in deprivation, and include worsened parental mental health, which can lead to <u>neglect and abuse</u>. Despite these outcomes, effective utilisation of community resources, especially for <u>addressing maternal mental health and wellbeing</u>, remains in its early stages. While there is moderate progress in establishing community hubs and addressing pandemic impacts on social networks, significant challenges persist, such as providing temporary homes and maximising community support resources.

Examples of community hubs include 'Fit Like? Family Wellbeing Hubs' in Aberdeen which is a group of services working together to support children and young people's mental wellbeing. The service offers help with finance and benefits. family relationships and communication, coping with daily pressures, promoting positive emotional and mental wellbeing and talking about traumatic experiences.



The <u>Shaping Places for Wellbeing Programme</u>, a collaboration between the Improvement Service and Public Health Scotland (PHS) funded by The Health Foundation and the Scottish Government with COSLA support, aims to improve Scotland's wellbeing and reduce inequalities through a place-based approach. Running until March 2024, it involves local project actions, a local learning cohort, and a national leadership cohort to drive partnership-based, wide-ranging local actions while addressing environmental health. The programme aligns with national policies like 20-minute neighbourhoods and Scotland's Public Health Priorities, supporting local authorities, health boards, and partners in considering 'place' comprehensively.

The programme's implementation involves support inputs, replicable outputs, and aims for lasting systemic change. Seven Project Towns (Alloa, Ayr, Clydebank, Dalkeith, Fraserburgh, Dunoon, and Rutherglen) receive support from Project Leads and Community Link Leads to incorporate the voices of those experiencing inequality into decision–making processes. The programme is based on the Place and Wellbeing Outcomes, which outline characteristics essential for thriving communities and are integrated into local decision–making

Whilst Scotland has made moderate progress on this action, continuing to invest in community services is crucial to address existing gaps and improve support systems for families, particularly in times of crisis like the COVID-19 pandemic. Continued efforts are needed to strengthen community networks and enhance the utilisation of peer and community support resources across Scotland, ensuring equitable access and effective support for all families in need.

#### **Service Integration**

Scotland's family support services will feel and be experienced as integrated to those who
use them.

see the promise, chapter 3 and chapter 6

Integrated family services in Scotland have shown moderate progress, with innovations like the <u>Barnahus model</u> exemplifying successful service integration by providing comprehensive support for children and families under one roof. This model serves as an excellent example of how integrated services can enhance accessibility and effectiveness in delivering support.



However, this model is not yet accessible across the country, and challenges persist in local services, particularly for care experienced children and young carers, due to siloed approaches and differing priorities among service providers.

Statistical analyses <u>suggest limited associations</u> between structural integration and improved outcomes, indicating that structural integration alone may not suffice to enhance service delivery or user experience significantly. Collaborative initiatives, such as <u>the Scottish Attainment</u> <u>Challenge</u>, demonstrate promising cooperation between education and social work sectors, yet further evaluation is necessary to gauge their impact on service integration outcomes comprehensively.

Overall, while moderate progress has been made to integrate services, with the Barnahus model standing out as exemplary, achieving seamless integration across regions and services remains a challenge in Scotland. Continued efforts are essential to address these challenges and maximise the effectiveness of collaboration to improve service delivery and outcomes for families.

### **Family Therapies**

 All families will have direct and clear access to family therapies and specific support across a range of issues, so that accessing support is seen as something that a range of families may need throughout life.

see the promise, chapter 3

Further data collection and evaluation are crucial to determine the efficacy of family therapy initiatives across Scotland. This information is essential for refining strategies, expanding successful programs, and ensuring that families receive the support they need effectively. Continued investment in family therapy services, coupled with rigorous evaluation, will be vital in enhancing outcomes and addressing the diverse needs of families across the nation.

The "With Kids Play Therapy Programme," funded by Edinburgh City Council, represents an initial step in meeting family therapy needs by providing therapeutic interventions in primary schools. This program focuses on improving relationships and understanding trauma, particularly for



vulnerable families. However, the lack of comprehensive data on its impact and reach poses challenges in assessing its overall effectiveness and informing future expansion efforts.



# Priority Area 3: Supporting the Workforce

#### Overview

Priority Area 3 of Plan 21–24 is 'Supporting the Workforce'. This area seeks to equip the care workforce with the skills, resources, and support needed to deliver high-quality care and support alongside children and families. This includes training, professional development, and ensuring the wellbeing of those working in the care sector. Priority Area 3 is comprised of 4 actions, namely:

- Workforce Values
- Trauma-informed
- Relationships
- Workforce Support

The remainder of this section assesses each of these actions, summarising conclusions from the analysis of evidence and stakeholder interviews.

#### **Workforce Values**

 There will be a national values-based recruitment and workforce development framework in place and adhered to by all organisations and professions involved in supporting children and their families.

see the promise, chapter 5

The broad commitment across the workforce to enact change, despite an extraordinarily difficult financial landscape and significant systemic challenges, is evident.

Scotland is making efforts towards implementing a national values-based recruitment and workforce development framework, although progress remains varied across local authorities and organisations. Training initiatives are inconsistent, with 19 out of 32 local authorities offering some level of training to pupils and families on understanding care experience according to research



conducted by Who Cares? Scotland. However, a significant gap exists as 10 local authorities do not provide any such training. There is no available data to determine whether something else is done in the absence of this. Similarly, training for school staff also lacks uniformity, with 27 local authorities offering differing levels, some of which are optional rather than mandatory.

The <u>Communities that Care</u> project by Who Cares? Scotland stands out as a focused effort in three local authorities, delivering extensive care experience training to break down prejudices and stigma. Despite these localised efforts, there is a critical need for broader education programs to ensure widespread understanding and inclusivity regarding care experience throughout Scotland.

In terms of destigmatising language and practices, progress is evident with 22 out of 32 local authorities embedding such practices. Within justice, Our Hearings, Our Voice have created the 'Language Leaders' group to ensure that all children who attend Hearings are supported to understand and be included by changing the use of written and spoken language. The establishment of SCRA's Race and Ethnicity Group further demonstrates the commitment to racial equality, evident through plans like the Race Equality Action Plan. These efforts are crucial steps toward diversifying boards and fostering inclusive practices within care settings.

Stakeholders mentioned organisational commitments to deliver change, although significant challenges persist, including a recognised workforce crisis exacerbated by financial constraints, the impact of COVID-19, and ongoing issues related to the cost of living. Organisations are responding with initiatives such as training programs, mental health support, and policies aimed at nurturing staff. Yet, <u>systemic barriers</u> such as inadequate IT systems and difficulties in recruitment continue to hamper progress.

Overall, according to this research, Scotland has made moderate progress towards this action. This includes implementing a national values-based recruitment and workforce development framework, and a few local authorities are delivering extensive care experience training to break down prejudices and stigma. However, local authority provision of training on understanding care experience to pupils, families and school staff is patchy. Just over two thirds of local authorities have embedded procedures to destigmatise language and practices In terms of destigmatising language and practices, while good efforts have been made to promote diversity and inclusive



practices within care settings. Continued efforts are needed to overcome the challenges posed workforce crises, financial constraints and more.

#### Trauma-informed

Organisations that have responsibilities towards care experienced children and families and those on the edge of care will be able to demonstrate that they are embedding trauma informed practice across their work and within their workforce.

see the promise, chapter 5

Scotland recognises the importance of trauma-informed practice in responding to the needs of care experienced individuals, as supported by the <u>Improvement Service</u>. This recognition demonstrates the significance of trauma-informed approaches in improving outcomes for vulnerable groups and signals positive policy direction.

Throughout this research, we have seen many mentions of trauma-informed practice and various guidance in relation to this, indicating there is activity occurring across the space in this area in terms of a desire to establish these practices into the thinking and workings of organisations.

Several local authorities are actively delivering trauma-informed training to their staff, demonstrating proactive efforts to equip personnel with necessary skills and create supportive environments. However, a notable concern arises from the fact that 11 local authorities do not record any data related to the delivery of trauma-informed training according to research by Who Cares? Scotland. This absence of data raises accountability issues and impedes the ability to assess the effectiveness of training programs across different regions.

Research findings and government strategies consistently highlight the importance of trauma-informed approaches, laying a strong foundation for continued advocacy and action in policy and practice settings. Overall, while progress is evident in implementing trauma-informed practices, particularly through training programmes such as the <a href="National Trauma Transformation Program">National Trauma Transformation Program</a>, the lack of consistent data recording poses challenges to assessing broader impact and ensuring uniform implementation across Scotland.



Overall, this research denotes that Scotland has made substantial progress towards this action, and recognises the particular importance of trauma-informed approaches to care experienced individuals. While there are examples of efforts to equip local authority staff with the skills and knowledge to work in a trauma-informed manner, inconsistencies in the recording of data on such training programmes are problematic.

### **Ongoing Relationships**

There will be no blanket policies or guidance that prevent the maintenance of relationships between young people and those who care for them. Settings of care will be able to facilitate the protection of relationships that are important to children and young people.

see the promise, chapter 5 and page 79

The ability for children, young people, and families to maintain strong, trusting and ongoing relationships with those who care for them proves challenging due to various systemic issues identified in research.

These challenges include continual service restructuring, inconsistent thresholds for service provision, and difficulties in recruitment and retention of qualified practitioners.

Such barriers emphasise the gap between <u>policy intent and practical implementation</u>, indicating a need for more cohesive approaches to support sustained relationships and effective help and support.

Elements of practice and work regarding ongoing relationships is also evident in the section of this report regarding Brothers and Sisters.

Overall, according to this research, Scotland has taken initial steps to fulfil this action, though a host of challenges – including service restructuring, recruitment and retention – have made progress difficult.



# **Workforce Support**

A new framework of support will be in place to ensure people involved in the care of care experienced children and young people feel valued, encouraged and have supportive relationships for reflection with high quality supervision and environmental conditions.

see the promise, pages 107 to 108

Scotland faces significant challenges in providing adequate support for its care workforce, as highlighted by significantly high sickness absence rates among social workers, some reaching up to 83.3% in certain local authorities according to <u>research conducted by Who Cares? Scotland.</u>

These rates directly impact service quality and continuity, contributing to disruptions in care provision and challenges in maintaining relationships between care experienced children, families, and adults and those who provide care. Compounding these issues are disparities in funding, employment conditions, and organisational constraints, which collectively undermine workforce morale and wellbeing.

While there are existing support measures such as mental health and well-being programs, team-building activities, and the development of advanced practitioner roles, these efforts appear inadequate in addressing the root causes of workforce challenges. <u>Organisational constraints</u> such as limited resources, high caseloads, and risk-averse cultures further impede practitioners' ability to deliver effective support and therapeutic interventions. A key risk to the Promise is asking an already stretched workforce to take on additional responsibilities to meet achieve the goals of the Promise.

The complex nature of these challenges necessitates comprehensive reforms to establish robust support mechanisms that ensure the wellbeing of care professionals and high-quality help and support for care experienced children, adults and families.



These assessments across workforce values, trauma-informed practices, ongoing relationships, and workforce support demonstrate both progress and persistent challenges within Scotland's 'care system'. Addressing these complexities requires sustained commitment to systemic reform and strategic investment in enhancing support structures for care experienced children, families and adults.

Overall, Scotland has taken initial steps to fulfil this action, according to this research. However, challenges in providing adequate support for the care workforce – including disparities in funding, employment conditions, and organisational constraints – have a knock-on impact on service quality and continuity for care experienced children, families, and adults and those who provide care. Systemic reform and strategic investment are required if the root causes of workforce challenges are to be adequately addressed.



# **Priority Area 4: Planning**

#### **Overview**

Priority Area 4 of Plan 21–24 is 'Planning'. This area seeks to develop strategic plans and policies that prioritise the needs and rights of children and families and ensure that decision–making processes are informed by the voices of children and young people, and that policies are designed to support long–term positive outcomes. Priority Area 4 is comprised of 3 actions, namely:

- Planning
- Investment
- Information Sharing

The remainder of this section assesses each of these actions, summarising conclusions from the analysis of evidence and stakeholder interviews.

### **Planning**

- Scotland will have a national, strategic planning process in place that ensures that children who are cared from away from their family of origin 'belong to a loving home.'
- The planning process will reflect the needs of Scotland's children and young people whilst operating with the expectation that more children will remain with their families.
- o It will reflect the principles of the promise ensuring:
- Scotland's most vulnerable children are not profited from (page 111)
- Standards of care are consistent (page 111)
- End to the selling of care placements to Local Authorities outside Scotland (page 110)
- Acute and crisis services are phased out to promote early intervention and prevention (page 111)

see the promise, chapter 6



Scotland's planning efforts in child protection, care and support reveal a complex landscape marked by both progressive efforts and persistent challenges. A notable concern is the substantial allocation of public funding to profit-making companies for residential care services; Who Cares? Scotland found that 15 local authorities have paid over £200 million to profit-making companies to provide children's residential care since pledging to keep the promise in 2020. This raises questions about resource prioritisation and alignment with principles outlined in the promise. This trend indicates a critical need to reassess funding strategies and prioritise investments that support sustainable and equitable models of care.

Moreover, despite acknowledging the issue, many local authorities continue to rely on profit—making companies for delivering care services without concrete plans to transition away from this model. This stagnation suggests a gap between policy intent and operational realities, highlighting the challenges in implementing systemic reforms within the 'care system'. Addressing these challenges requires proactive strategies to phase out reliance on profit—making entities and promote alternative models of care that prioritise children's rights and wellbeing over financial interests.

Transparency and accountability also pose significant challenges, with inconsistent data tracking expenditure on children's services across local authorities. This lack of transparency complicates efforts to evaluate the effectiveness of policy interventions and allocate resources effectively, emphasising the need for standardised reporting mechanisms and robust accountability frameworks. For example, <a href="Children's Services Plans are standardised across local authority areas">Children's Services Plans are standardised across local authority areas</a>, ensuring consistent reporting of children's rights, child protection, corporate parenting, youth justice, child poverty, etc.

Amidst these challenges, positive steps have been observed in some local authorities where commitments to phase out contracts with profit—making companies have been made. While commendable, these actions are often limited in scope, underscoring the broader need for widespread commitment and action across all authorities to ensure a comprehensive transition towards sustainable and equitable models of care.



However, persistent issues such as funding allocation, transparency, and accountability gaps pose significant barriers to achieving comprehensive reform. Some stakeholders in our interviews noted they still felt children's voices were missing from such conversations.

To improve planning effectiveness, Scotland must prioritise reforms that reallocate resources towards equitable models of care, establish clear accountability measures, and enhance transparency in financial practices. By addressing these challenges and building on existing strengths, Scotland can advance its commitment to providing high quality care and support for children and families.

Overall, initial steps have been taken towards planning efforts. Commitments and intentions have been set, although the majority of required actions have yet to be fully realised, in large part due to challenges including lack of consistent data, transparency and accountability.

#### Investment

- o Investment in the lives of children and families will be considered strategically and holistically in the context of their experiences.
- The Human and Economic Cost modelling that underpinned Follow the Money and The Money reports will be embedded into organisational and budgeting processes across Scotland. That process will have involved organisations working together to spread investment and align budgets.

see The Promise, Chapter 6; The Money; Follow the Money

Scotland's investment strategies in child protection, care and support demonstrate a varied landscape with notable efforts and systemic challenges. While efforts to mitigate the benefit cap and introduce the <a href="Scottish Child Payment">Scottish Child Payment</a> are commendable for their direct support to families, the absence of a comprehensive investment strategy raises concerns about the broader impact on public service reform. This lack of strategic alignment may limit the effectiveness of individual streams of investment in addressing systemic issues related to poverty and inequality.



Notably, in their <u>second report</u> from June 2023, The Promise Oversight Board reflected they did not see any clear investment strategy from Scottish Government:

"There is also no comprehensive investment strategy in place. These things are important to enable us to report with confidence about pace and performance.

We expect to see explicit leadership and drive from the Scottish Government and scrutiny bodies to articulate a clear set of principles, outcomes and milestones that will guarantee the promise is kept so that Scotland's care experienced young people's life chances are not defined by the fact they have been in care. We expect to see a strategic investment plan to deliver the required change. This does not have to mean additional resources when public finances are fragile; it means making best use of the resources that already exist by focusing on outcomes for children and families."

Local action plans show targeted efforts to address community-specific needs, yet the absence of a cohesive investment strategy may result in fragmented approaches that fail to address root causes effectively. This fragmentation highlights the importance of integrating local initiatives into a unified framework that supports coordinated efforts and maximises impact across diverse communities.

Initiatives in monitoring outcomes for care experienced children are promising but may lack alignment with a broader investment strategy aimed at improving educational attainment and wellbeing outcomes across sectors. This disconnect underscores the need for cohesive investment planning that integrates sector–specific investments into a comprehensive framework for child welfare and development. In the Keep the Promise implementation plan, the Scottish Government committed to ensuring that at least 5% of all community based health and social care spend will be invested in preventative whole family support measures by 2030.

Challenges in implementing cost modelling frameworks reveal barriers to achieving alignment in budgeting processes, which can hinder effective resource allocation and planning. Without clear guidelines and coordination mechanisms, these challenges may persist, compromising the efficiency and impact of investment efforts in child protection, care and support.



Efforts to enhance data maturity for informed decision-making represent a positive step towards improving accountability and outcomes. However, the absence of a comprehensive investment strategy guiding data use and interpretation may limit the full potential of data-driven insights in shaping policy and practice.

The assessment of Scotland's investment strategies in child protection, care and support highlights strengths in targeted interventions such as <u>mitigating the benefit cap</u> and introducing the <u>Scottish Child Payment</u>. These initiatives demonstrate a commitment to addressing key issues affecting children and families. However, the absence of a cohesive investment strategy poses challenges in achieving systematic reforms that address root causes of poverty, inequality, and educational disparities.

The previously mentioned <u>Scottish Recommended Allowance</u> is also a significant step in supporting foster and kinship carers across Scotland. The weekly allowances, backdated to April 1, 2023, are set at £168.31 for 0 to 4-year-olds, £195.81 for 5 to 15-year-olds, and £268.41 for those 16 and older. This standardisation, agreed upon with COSLA, marks the first time a unified rate has been mandated across all local authorities in Scotland, helping to ensure that all foster and kinship carers receive fair and adequate financial support. This provides families with consistent and reliable financial assistance, recognising the essential care they offer to vulnerable children and young people.

Overall, moderate progress has been made on this front, with local targeted investment strategies and supportive payments such as the Scottish Child Payment and Scottish Recommended Allowance demonstrating improvements in the investment landscape. However, to enhance investment effectiveness, Scotland should develop a comprehensive strategy that integrates sector–specific efforts into a unified framework. This approach would improve coordination, maximise resources, and ensure that investments are strategically aligned to achieve long–term outcomes for children and families across Scotland. By addressing these challenges and leveraging existing strengths, Scotland can advance its commitment to improving outcomes for children and families and promoting equitable opportunities for all.



# **Information Sharing**

- Organisations with responsibilities towards children and families will be confident about when, where, why and how to share information with partners.
- o Information sharing will not be a barrier to supporting children and families.

see the promise, page 36

Information sharing practices within Scotland's child protection, care and support systems exhibit a diverse range of effectiveness levels across various initiatives. Stakeholders report some positive experiences with inter-agency communication, particularly in contexts such as <u>addressing child criminal exploitation</u>. However, there is a <u>recognised need</u> for enhanced processes to optimise efficiency and ensure comprehensive data exchange among agencies.

Conversely, challenges emerge in the context of recordkeeping, where significant delays in accessing critical information once a child is no longer able to remain at home have been reported. These delays not only compromise the privacy and dignity of children but also reveal broader inefficiencies in information sharing practices, highlighting critical gaps that must be addressed to safeguard and protect children effectively.

Similarly, insights from the "10.000 Voices" report reveals substantial gaps in communication, with many children living away from home lacking a clear understanding of their circumstances. This deficiency in information sharing diminishes the effectiveness of support systems intended to promote children's wellbeing, necessitating urgent improvements to ensure that vital information is effectively communicated and understood by children. It is also important that children's voices are heard about their views on the the appropriate amount of information that would keep them safe being shared effectively.

Moreover, while efforts are underway to enhance <u>data sharing in rural areas</u> to combat child poverty, current practices face challenges that limit their overall effectiveness. Recommendations for establishing a working group represent a positive step towards improving collaboration and leveraging data for targeted help and support. However, addressing existing deficiencies in data



sharing practices is crucial for achieving meaningful impact and ensuring equitable support for families who require it.

In the realm of <u>supporting vulnerable young people in need of additional care and protections</u>', reviews have highlighted missed opportunities to meet the needs of young people due to ineffective collaboration and data sharing among statutory agencies. These findings highlight systemic failures that significantly impact service delivery and outcomes for vulnerable young people, indicating a low level of effectiveness in current information sharing practices. Addressing these systemic barriers is paramount to improving inter-agency collaboration and better supporting the needs of vulnerable young people nationwide.

Lastly, concerns regarding legal rights and ethical considerations in information management highlight potential barriers that complicate comprehensive data sharing practices. These barriers necessitate policy reforms and clearer guidelines to facilitate secure and ethical information exchange across agencies, ensuring that information sharing practices uphold the rights and privacy of all individuals involved.

The assessment of information sharing demonstrates both strengths and challenges within Scotland's child protection, care and support system. Effective communication channels and targeted help and support addressing specific issues like child criminal exploitation and rural child poverty, show promise. However, significant gaps persist in areas such as recordkeeping for children unable to live at home, informing care experienced children of their rights and helping them understand and engage in decision–making about their lives, and collaboration among agencies supporting vulnerable young people.

Initial steps have been taken with regards to information sharing practices within and between Scotland's child care, support and protection networks, with some improvements in communication processes between agencies, although large deficits and challenges remain. To enhance overall effectiveness, it is crucial to prioritise reforms that streamline information sharing processes, ensure timely access to critical data, and foster robust inter-agency collaboration. By addressing these challenges and building on existing strengths, Scotland can improve outcomes for children and families in care, creating a more supportive and responsive child protection, care and support system.



# **Priority Area 5: Building Capacity**

#### **Overview**

Priority Area 5 of Plan 21–24 is 'Building Capacity'. This area seeks to strengthen the capacity of organisations and communities to support children and families effectively which involves investing in services, fostering collaboration among different sectors, and ensuring resources are allocated where they are most needed. Priority Area 5 contains 6 actions, namely:

- Legislation
- Children's Hearing System
- Inspection and Regulation
- Policy Coherence
- Data Mapping and Collection
- Governance Structures

The remainder of this section assesses each of these actions, summarising conclusions from the analysis of evidence and stakeholder interviews.

### Legislation

 Over the course of the next Parliamentary term, there will be identifiable progress made towards ensuring Scotland's legislative framework around the breadth of the 'care system' is coherent and cohesive, upholds the conclusions of the Independent Care Review and is compliant with the UNCRC.

see the promise, page 112

Scotland has made significant strides in its legislative efforts concerning child protection, care and support aligning with the conclusions of the Independent Care Review. Published in 2022, the Scottish Government's <u>Keeping the Promise implementation plan</u> laid the groundwork for significant investment, consultation, and support for children, young people, and their families. Furthermore, the incorporation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child



(UNCRC) <u>into Scots Law</u> through the 2024 Act marks a pivotal advancement towards embedding child rights in the national legal framework. This legislative move underscores Scotland's commitment to promoting children's rights comprehensively, ensuring that international standards are enshrined in domestic law, within the competencies of devolution.

Additionally, the <u>Redress for Survivors</u> (Historical Child Abuse in Care) (Scotland) Act 2021 addresses past injustices related to historical child abuse, although its direct impact on legislative coherence within the current care system may be limited.

The <u>Children (Scotland) Act 2020</u> brought the law further in line with the UNCRC, ensuring that children's views will be heard in family court cases and Children's Hearings and that the best interests of children are at the heart of decision-making processes. It also gives more protection to victims of domestic abuse and introduced a legal duty to support care experienced brothers and sisters' relationships where they are not able to live together. Some of the duties within the Act are still to be commenced.

The <u>Children (Care and Justice) (Scotland) Act 2024</u> implements some of the core conclusions of the Promise, including by increasing access to the Children's Hearings System for more 16 and 17 year olds and ensuring no child will be held in a Young Offenders Institution. The proposed <u>Scottish Human Rights Bill</u> holds promise in addressing lifelong inequalities faced by care experienced individuals, reflecting Scotland's commitment to aligning legislative frameworks with the principles of the promise.

Challenges such as gaps in data collection on early deaths and uncertainties surrounding the National Care Service highlight areas where legislative coherence could be strengthened. Despite these challenges, Scotland's legislative landscape continues to evolve in support of child protection, care and support, with ongoing efforts to ensure that legal frameworks uphold the rights of all children under its jurisdiction. The key challenge going forward will be ensuring implementation of these key pieces of legislation.

Overall, according to this research, Scotland delivered this action as set out in Plan 21-24. It has made significant legislative efforts relating to child protection, care and support – including those



to align with the conclusions of the Independent Care Review and the international standards outlined in the UNCRC.

# Children's Hearings System

- o The Children's Hearing System will have gone through a redesign process.
- That redesign process will bring together children and families, and organisations that hold the responsibility, to rethink the structures, processes and legislation that underpin the hearing system.
- The aim will be to ensure there are coherent, cohesive and collaborative proposals on an operating framework for The Children's Hearings System that has been designed with children and families.
- That redesign process will be underpinned by:
- giving effect to the promise;
- ensuring compliance with the UNCRC;
- upholding the original intention of The Kilbrandon Review that children involved in offending need care and protection; and
- ensuring The Children's Hearing System and The Courts can facilitate child friendly justice that upholds children's rights and enables their effective participation.

see the promise, pages 39 to 44

Scotland's unique Children's Hearings System has shown notable progress in making improvements and reform alongside persistent challenges, as evidenced by stakeholder inputs and official reports. Care experienced children and adults have consistently advocated for reforms even before the Promise, underscoring the longstanding need for improvements in the way the Children's Hearings System operates and listens to children and families. The historical commitment to the Kilbrandon principles and to transformational change highlights the depth of engagement and collaboration that has shaped ongoing reforms.



As part of the commitment to change, organisations in and surrounding the Children's Hearing System, including Children's Hearings Scotland, The Promise Scotland, the Scottish Children's Reporter Administration and the Scottish Government, formed the Hearings System Working Group, established in 2021. The working group is tasked with preparing detailed proposals for the redesign of the children's hearing system, and published the <u>'Hearings for Children: The Redesign Report'</u>, with over 97 recommendations. This report and the subsequent response from the Scottish Government demonstrate significant strides towards prioritising the voices and increasing the participation of children and families in Children's Hearings and embedding a rights- based inquisitorial approach. These efforts are aimed at ensuring that children's voices are heard and that decisions made alongside them are informed by their experiences and needs.

The Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (SCRA), <u>aims to enhance the Children's Hearings System through several key initiatives</u>. These include ensuring Children's Hearings are inclusive, rights-based, and trauma-informed, and that all attendees are well-prepared, informed, and able to participate fully. SCRA is committed to clearly explaining the reasons for Hearings and the decisions made, making appeal rights accessible, and working with children and families with kindness.

Additionally, SCRA aims to use clear and appropriate language in all communications and engage openly and constructively with partners about potential changes to the Children's Hearings System. This includes preparing staff for upcoming changes while continually improving the current experience for children and families involved in the hearings process.

In addition, Children's Hearings Scotland have <u>taken many actions to ensure the Children's Hearing System reflects the commitments of the Promise</u>. These include delivering and evaluating trauma informed learning to volunteers, undertaking assessments of Panel Members' knowledge and confidence around sibling's rights, providing new tools for staff and volunteers to develop their skills and knowledge to best respect children's rights, and developing a consistent approach to enhance participation, engagement and consultation with children and young people with lived experience and embed these voices in operational delivery.



Along with these programmes, the <u>Children's Hearings Redesign Board was recently established</u>, <u>made up of a group of leaders from relevant stakeholder organisations</u>. The board is responsible for providing oversight to changes to the Children's Hearings System, ensuring any changes are based in evidence and benefit children and their families.

However, concerns regarding advocacy provision and the timely implementation of recommendations temper these advancements. Actioning recommendations and aligning reforms in a way that continues to take into account the views and experiences of care experienced children and adults will be crucial for achieving lasting change to Scotland's Children's Hearings System.

Overall, Scotland has made substantial progress towards this action, according to this research. A key source of progress was the formation on the Hearings System Working Group in 2021, while the Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (SCRA) has worked on a series of key initiatives to enhance the Children's Hearings System. Actions by Children's Hearings Scotland, and the establishment of the Children's Hearings Redesign Board, are also welcome, though care should be taken to address concerns around advocacy provision and the timely implementation of recommendations.

### **Inspection and Regulation**

- A new, holistic framework for inspection and regulation that values what children and family's value, will have been scoped and developed.
- It will understand the necessary legislative change required to focus on children's experiences and will be underpinned by the principles set out in the promise and give full effect to the secure care pathway and standards.

see the promise, pages 119 to 120

The Care Inspectorate is committed to <u>delivering the Promise by 2030</u> as part of its strategic objectives. It is working to align its current and future activities with the promise's conclusions. This includes regulating and supporting services which work with babies, children, and young



people on the edges of care and with care experience, and aligning efforts with participation, equalities, the UNCRC, and corporate parenting.

The organisation is implementing a <u>Promise Development Model</u> across six workstreams, both internally and externally. Internally, this involves incorporating promise principles into methodology, participation, and learning and development activities. Externally, the Care Inspectorate contributes to national transformational change through its scrutiny and assurance roles, collaborating with other scrutiny bodies to provide evidence and influence necessary for achieving the promise's goals.

However, the lack of comprehensive data on the 'care system' poses significant challenges to monitoring progress effectively. Criticisms regarding data collection priorities and interruptions in policy reviews, such as the <u>National Care Service consultation</u>, further demonstrate the need for improved data management practices and policy coherence. These challenges highlight the complexities involved in implementing new regulatory frameworks that align with the promise's goals across Scotland.

Also of note, an independent review looking at the inspection and regulation of social care in Scotland was called for in 2022, publishing findings in 2023. The report examined current systems of regulation and inspection across social care in Scotland, discussing how these systems can best support improved outcomes and experiences. Overall, includes 38 recommendations, some building on long-standing issues in the care system identified in earlier reviews, including the Independent Care Review, and others referring to new areas. This review represents a crucial step in transforming the care system to meet the needs of children, young people and families.

According to this research, Scotland has, overall, made moderate progress towards this action. The Care Inspectorate references commitments to delivering the Promise by 2030 in its strategic objectives, and is implementing a Promise Development Model at both internal and external levels. Conversely, data collection priorities and interruptions in policy reviews have faced criticism, and greater consistency of data is needed to monitor progress effectively.



# **Policy Coherence**

- There will be cohesive alignment in the policy initiatives and frameworks across Scotland.
   Policy development across Scotland will reflect the realities of people's lives and create a coherent policy environment.
- The focus of the 21-24 period will be on implementation and alignment not inquiries and reviews.

see the promise, page 25

Scotland's efforts towards achieving policy coherence in child protection, care and support reveal a mix of challenges. Initiatives such as the <u>Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy</u> demonstrate efforts to integrate trauma-informed practices and enhance children's participation in decision making about their care and support. These align with broader goals of embedding supportive frameworks and improving care outcomes across Scotland.

However, challenges related to data deficiencies and delays in policy reviews impact the overall coherence of policy initiatives. The lack of comprehensive data on the 'care system' limits the effectiveness of policy interventions aimed at addressing child protection, care and support issues. Addressing these challenges and enhancing policy alignment with the Promise's principles will be critical for achieving comprehensive and effective policy coherence in Scotland.

In interviews, stakeholders also noted there was not always agreed terminology across organisations, guidance and legislation, which hinders policy coherence.

The Children's Services Reform Research <u>concluding report</u> published in December 2023 by CELCIS found that practitioners described working in the context of a cluttered, insufficiently aligned and, at times, contradictory legislative and policy landscape. Policy changes were described as 'layered on' without a clear understanding of the impacts on other existing policies, which results in confusion and a continual shifting of focus. Local leaders, managers and practitioners are also struggling with implementation, particularly as there is no national sequencing, insufficient support for implementation, and all services are trying to manage the crisis in recruitment and retention at the same time.



Overall, Scotland has made moderate progress towards this action. While there have been efforts to integrate trauma-informed practices and enhance children's participation in decision making about their care and support, challenges relating to data deficiencies and delays in policy reviews limit the overall coherence of policy initiatives. The legislative and policy landscape can be seen as cluttered or contradictory, resulting in difficulties at implementation stages. All these issues impact the abilities of services to achieve the outcomes needed to improve the lives of children, young people and families.

# **Data Mapping and Collection**

- Scotland will have a cohesive central picture of all data on the processes and systems that directly and indirectly impact on children and their families, including wider socio-structural factors.
- The data picture will have been used to fully align data systems, collection and analysis methodologies to what matters to children and families, and the needs of those who take decisions on how best to support children and their families.

see the promise, pages 114

Throughout this report, the assessment of actions has consistently noted a lack of clear data on those in care or who are care experienced in relation to the actions. This must be addressed in order to be able to assess the progress on key aspects of the Promise moving forward to 2030.

Data is crucial for understanding the needs and experiences of children, young people, and families requiring help and support. It informs decision-making, evidences effective practices, and evaluates service quality. However, members of the workforce often feel that data collection does not directly benefit their work, perceiving it as a burden rather than an aid. Additionally, while data can highlight experiences and outcomes, capturing and analysing qualitative information is challenging. Most indicators available focus on service operations rather than outcomes and are not designed to measure the effects of integration.



Scotland's approach to data mapping and collection in child protection, care and support highlights persistent challenges and some promising development. Significant gaps in data regarding <u>Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) child poverty</u> highlight deficiencies in targeting actions effectively. Despite Research Data Scotland (RDS) and Administrative Data Research Scotland (ADR Scotland) aiming to enhance data access and utilisation, challenges in data collection and utilisation persist.

In Scotland, efforts to improve the data landscape include the development of the <u>Children, Young People and Families Outcomes Framework</u> with core wellbeing indicators, <u>data mapping</u> by The Promise Scotland, and a review of Children's Social Work Statistics. Despite these, further work is needed to develop data that reflects what is important to children and families, including capturing their experience of appropriate help and support. National data collection gaps, such as information on initial social work referrals and reasons for changes in care, limit the effectiveness of planning and evaluating early help for children and families. Integrated data systems could support multi-agency work by enabling easier information sharing.

Overall, Scotland has taken initial steps towards this action. However, a dearth in clear data on those in care or who are care experienced has been consistently raised throughout this research. These challenges call for more cohesive and targeted approaches to improve data mapping and collection practices in Scotland. Addressing these gaps will be essential for developing informed policies and help and support that effectively support children and families.

#### **Governance Structures**

- All public appointments to any of Scotland's Boards and Public Bodies which have an impact on the 'care system' will ensure that the values of the promise are embedded in recruitment frameworks.
- The governance landscape around the various Boards, networks and groups that sit around the 'care system' will be rationalised to enable effective and accountable shared working around the lives of children and families.

see the promise, chapter 6



Scotland's governance structures in embedding the values set out in the Promise and involving care experienced individuals in decision–making processes about them and service delivery reflect progress, alongside areas for improvement. During our review we did not find many sources discussing this. Efforts to embed values set out in the Promise in recruitment frameworks for governance positions demonstrate proactive steps to integrate voices and experiences of care experienced people into decision–making processes. Successful implementation of reverse mentoring strategies further enhances governance structures by incorporating the perspectives of care experienced people.

However, concerns over data recording inconsistencies and uneven engagement practices related to reverse mentoring indicate areas where implementation could be strengthened.

This research indicates that, overall, Scotland has made moderate progress towards this action. Improving engagement practices and ensuring consistent data recording will be crucial for sustaining progress and achieving meaningful impact across governance structures in Scotland.



# The Fundamentals of Plan 21-24

The Promise Scotland's Plan 2021–24 outlines five core fundamentals aimed at transforming the care system in Scotland to better support children and families. This evidence review also looked at the progress towards achieving these fundamentals as well as the actions. The five fundamentals—What Matters to Children and Families, Listening, Poverty, Children's Rights, and Language—serve as the guiding principles for achieving the promise.

The following sections provide a commentary on each fundamental based on the evidence review against the actions and stakeholder interviews.

#### What Matters to Children and Families

The Promise Scotland's Plan 21–24 prioritises the needs and perspectives of children and families at every stage of implementation. This report highlights that while there has been progress in involving children and families in decision–making processes, challenges remain. Some organisations have moved towards integrating child–centric approaches, but there is still a notable gap in consistently prioritising the voices of children and families over systemic considerations. Ensuring that every decision is made from the perspective of those directly affected remains an ongoing challenge.

### Listening

Listening to the voices of care experienced children and families is a core fundamental of the plan. The evaluation indicates that organisations have made progress in embedding feedback from children and families into their practices. However, it also reveals that this practice is not yet universal. Some stakeholders report that despite mechanisms for feedback, the actual impact on policy and practice varies significantly. There is a clear need for more consistent and effective ways to ensure that the insights and experiences of children and families are meaningfully integrated into organisational practices and policies.

# **Poverty**

Reducing poverty among children and their families is critical. The evaluation shows that while there have been efforts aligned with the Child Poverty (Scotland) Act 2017, the impact of these



initiatives has been mixed. Economic challenges, particularly exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and cost of living crisis, have hindered significant progress. Organisations have attempted various strategies to mitigate the effects of poverty, but sustained improvement is yet to be fully realised.

# Children's Rights

The commitment to upholding the rights of children, as outlined in the UNCRC, is central to Plan 21–24. The evaluation notes that while there is a general awareness and endorsement of children's rights among organisations, the practical implementation can sometimes fall short. Issues such as inadequate resources, training, and support systems have been identified as barriers to fully realising these rights.

#### Language

The use of destigmatising language and practices is another fundamental of the plan. The evaluation reveals progress in shifting towards more respectful and empowering language when referring to care experienced individuals. Stakeholder interviews generally stated that there was a sense that there had been good progress in these areas over the period of the Plan. It is essential that all organisations and individuals involved in Scotland's 'care system' understand and adopt destigmatising practices to create a more supportive and respectful environment for care-experienced children and young people.

#### Conclusion

The evaluation of The Promise Scotland's Plan 21–24 shows that while there has been progress in some areas, significant challenges remain in fully embedding the five fundamentals across all organisations and practices. Continued efforts, enhanced resources, and stronger accountability mechanisms are required to ensure that the perspectives and rights of all children and families are consistently prioritised and respected.



# Conclusion

Plan 21–24 is a crucial component of Scotland's broader promise to enhance the lives and uphold the rights of children and young people in Scotland. While stakeholders acknowledge the Plan's commitment, concerns have been raised about its effectiveness due to its broad scope, lack of measurable success indicators, and inclusion of some seemingly unattainable goals according to participants in interviews. The unmet objectives set for 2024 emphasise the need for renewed efforts to achieve the targets by 2030.

Despite these challenges, significant achievements driven by the shared desire to "Keep The Promise" have been realised over the course of Plan 21–24. These include increased awareness of children and families' voices in decision making, key legislative changes, and alignment of local authority plans with the Plan's priorities.

However, significant areas for improvement remain. Challenges in resource allocation, particularly maintaining adequate funding for local authorities, have impacted the effectiveness of implementation. Sustained financial support and clear metrics for measuring impact are critical for assessing progress towards the commitments set out in Plan 21–24 as Scotland moves on to its next plan. Addressing workforce support and retention, improving service integration, and shifting towards early help and comprehensive community based support are essential for improving outcomes for children, families and care experienced adults.

Future plans must be clearer on the specifics: who will be responsible for each action, how these actions will be carried out, when they will be completed, how they will be monitored, and what the financial costs will be. This clarity will help ensure accountability and enable more precise allocation of resources.



# Appendix: Bibliography

Action for Children (2023) 'The Educational Outcomes of Children Referred to Children's Social Care: A Revolving Doors Report'.

Adams, R (2019) 'Scotland's universities to offer guaranteed places to care leavers', The Guardian, 25 July. Available at: www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/jul/25/scotlands-universities-offer-guaranteed-places-students-in-care

Allik, M. *et al.* (2021) 'Cohort profile: The "Children's Health in Care in Scotland" (CHiCS) study—a longitudinal dataset to compare health outcomes for care experienced children and general population children', *BMJ Open*, 11(9), p. e054664. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054664">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054664</a>.

Allik, M. *et al.* (2021) 'Comparing health outcomes of care experienced children to children not in care in Scotland 2009–2016', *European Journal of Public Health*, 31(Supplement\_3), p. ckab164.868. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab164.868">https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab164.868</a>.

Allik, M. et al. (2022) Children's Health in Care in Scotland (CHiCS): Main findings from population-wide research. University of Glasgow. doi: 10.36399/gla.pubs.279347.

Anderson, M. et al. (2023) 'MAPPING INTEGRATION AND OUTCOMES ACROSS SCOTLAND: A STATISTICAL ANALYSIS'.

Atkinson, M. (2018) 'The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)', in M. Shaw and S. Bailey (eds) *Justice for Children and Families*. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, pp. 50–58. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108619554.008">https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108619554.008</a>.

Authentic Voice (2022) 'Discovery Report'. Authentic Voice (2022) <u>Authentic Voice – Embedding lived experience in Scotland</u>. Available at: https://authenticvoice.scot/

Bacon, G. *et al.* (2023) At the Edge of Care: A Systematic Review and Thematic Synthesis of Parent and Practitioner Views and Experiences of Support for Parents with Mental Health Needs and Children's Social Service Involvement, *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 2023, 6953134, 33 pages, 2023. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/6953134">https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/6953134</a>.



Baginsky, M. et al. (2020) 'Evaluation of MTM's Signs of Safety Pilots: Evaluation report' Department for Education.

Bancroft, H. (2023) "Horrendous" practice of handcuffing children in care must be banned, MPs warn', *The Independent*. Available at: <a href="https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/childcare-handcuffs-campaign-steve-mccabe-b2350328.html">https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/childcare-handcuffs-campaign-steve-mccabe-b2350328.html</a>.

Banks, J., Karjalainen, H. and Waters, T. (2023) 'Inequalities in disability'.

Barboza-Salerno, G.E. (2023) 'The neighborhood deprivation gradient and child physical abuse and neglect: A Bayesian spatial model', *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 146, p. 106501. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106501">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106501</a>.

Barrie, K. and Miller, E. (2022) 'Setting the Bar for Social Work in Scotland' Social Work Scotland.

Blundell, E. *et al.* (2024) 'Longitudinal pathways between childhood BMI, body dissatisfaction, and adolescent depression: an observational study using the UK Millennium Cohort Study', *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 11(1), pp. 47–55. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(23)00365-6">https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(23)00365-6</a>.

Bowyer, S. et al. (2018) 'Edge of Care Cost Calculator'

Boyd, R. *et al.* (2023) 'Multidimensional Aspects of Social Networks: Implications for CPS Recurrence', *Social Sciences*, 12(4), p. 234. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci12040234">https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci12040234</a>.

Bramley, G. and Fitzpatrick, S. (2023) 'Capturing the neglected extremes of UK poverty: a composite modelling approach to destitution and food bank usage', *Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*, 31(1), pp. 5–26. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1332/175982721X16649700901023">https://doi.org/10.1332/175982721X16649700901023</a>.

Brown, A. and Vaswani, N. (2023) 'Glasgow Youth Court: Full report'.

Brünjes, M. (2023) *2023: Easy Does It*. Available at: <a href="https://homelessnetwork.scot/2023/01/10/2023-easy-does-it/">https://homelessnetwork.scot/2023/01/10/2023-easy-does-it/</a>.

Brünjes, M. (2024) *2024: Something doesn't add up....* Available at: <a href="https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/maggie-brunjes-2024-something-doesnt-add-up.">https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/maggie-brunjes-2024-something-doesnt-add-up.</a>



Bunting, L. et al. (2023) 'Changing Trends in Child Welfare Inequalities in Northern Ireland'.

Burgemeister, F.C. *et al.* (2021) 'Place-based approaches to improve health and development outcomes in young children: A scoping review', *PLOS ONE*. Edited by A.M. Metwally, 16(12), p. e0261643. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0261643">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0261643</a>.

Busso, D. et al. (2018) 'Slipping through the Cracks: Comparing Media and Organisational Discourse on the Children's Care System in Scotland'.

Buttle UK (2023) 'The State of Child Poverty 2023: Exploring the changing face of child poverty in a cost-of-living crisis'.

Care Inspectorate (2023) *Barnahus update July 2023*. Available at: <a href="https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7195-barnahus-update-july-2023">https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7195-barnahus-update-july-2023</a>.

Care Inspectorate (2023) *Children's Rights report April 2020–March 2023*. Available at: <a href="https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7328-children-s-rights-report">https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7328-children-s-rights-report</a>. Care Inspectorate (2023) 'Fostering and adoption 2022-23: A statistical bulletin'.

Care Inspectorate (2023) 'Position paper -Depriving and restricting liberty for children and young people in care home, school care and secure accommodation services'.

Care Inspectorate (2023) 'Report on Distance Placements'.

Care Inspectorate (2023) 'Staff vacancies in care services 2022'.

Care Inspectorate (2023) *The Promise*. Available at: <a href="https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/the-promise">https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/the-promise</a>.

Care Inspectorate (2023) *The Promise in action*. Available at: <a href="https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7343-the-promise-in-action">https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7343-the-promise-in-action</a>.

Care Inspectorate (2023) *Transforming children's experiences of the justice system*. Available at: <a href="https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7135-transforming-children-s-experiences-of-the-justice-system">https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/news/7135-transforming-children-s-experiences-of-the-justice-system</a>.



CELCIS (2023) New national allowance for foster and kinship carers announced by the Scottish Government. Available at: <a href="https://www.celcis.org/news/news-pages/new-national-allowance-foster-and-kinship-carers-announced-scottish-government">https://www.celcis.org/news/news-pages/new-national-allowance-foster-and-kinship-carers-announced-scottish-government</a>.

CELCIS (2024) New legislation to strengthen support and rights for young people in Scotland. Available at: <a href="https://www.celcis.org/news/news-pages/new-legislation-strengthen-support-and-rights-young-people-scotland">https://www.celcis.org/news/news-pages/new-legislation-strengthen-support-and-rights-young-people-scotland</a>

CELCIS (2024) What story does Scotland's latest statistics on child protection tell?. Available at: <a href="https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/blog/what-story-does-scotlands-latest-statistics-child-protection-tell">https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/blog/what-story-does-scotlands-latest-statistics-child-protection-tell</a>.

CELCIS (2024) When data tells us the what but not the why. Available at: <a href="https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/blog/when-data-tells-us-what-not-why.">https://www.celcis.org/knowledge-bank/search-bank/blog/when-data-tells-us-what-not-why.</a>

Centre for Justice Innovation (2022) 'Family drug and alcohol courts annual report 2021/22'.

Clan Childlaw (2023) 'New regulations allow siblings to apply for legal aid' Available at: <a href="https://www.clanchildlaw.org/news/new-regulations-allow-siblings-to-apply-for-legal-aid/">https://www.clanchildlaw.org/news/new-regulations-allow-siblings-to-apply-for-legal-aid/</a>

Clements, J. and Birch, S. (2023) 'Exploring risk and protective factors in kinship family environments: a systematic literature review of the views of children in kinship care', *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 39(4), pp. 475–499. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2023.2243212">https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2023.2243212</a>.

Commission Young Lives (2022) 'Hidden in Plain Sight: A national plan of action to support vulnerable teenagers to succeed and to protect them from adversity, exploitation, and harm'

Congreve, E. (2023) 'Meeting the Scottish child poverty targets – is it a case of too little, too late?'

Cornish, C. (2024) 'A Birthmother's Counter-Story of Racism and Oppression in Children's Social Work: Carving an Afro-Centric Space for Sawubona in Euro-Centric Social Work Education, Practice, and the Safeguarding System', *The British Journal of Social Work*, 54(3), pp. 846–865. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcae027.

CPAG (2023) 'Cost of the School Day resources'



CPAG (2023) 'Cost of the School Day Toolkit - Scotland'

CPAG (2023) *Poverty's Threat To Childhood Revealed By New Research*. Available at: https://cpag.org.uk/news/povertys-threat-childhood-revealed-new-research.

CPAG (2023) 'School sums: What does going to school really cost families?'.

Cree, V.E. and MacKenzie, B. (2023) 'Collaborative storytelling in residential social work: Revisiting our shared past.', 22.

Critchley, A. et al. (2023) 'Final report: Supporting roots'.

Cusworth, L. et al. (2022) 'Born into care in Scotland: circumstances, recurrence and pathways'.

CYCJ (2023) 'Annual Report 2022-2023'.

Davies, R. and Dart, J. (2005) 'The 'Most Significant Change' (MSC) Technique'.

Dawson, A. (2024) 'Strong Foundations: Why Everyone Needs Good Emotional Health and How to Achieve it'.

Deacon, K. (2023) 'Staying Connected Project: Care-experienced children and young people with a sibling in prison or secure accommodation'.

Deeley, S. and Fleming, K. (2023) 'A promising change', *Scottish Journal of Residential Child Care*, 22(2). Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.17868/strath.00087199">https://doi.org/10.17868/strath.00087199</a>.

Department for Education (2023) 'Championing kinship care: the national kinship care strategy'.

Diamond, G. (2022) 'Radical action needed on data' *Audit Scotland*. Available at: https://audit.scot/publications/radical-action-needed-on-data.

Dillon, J. (2023) 'State of Child Poverty 2023'.

Dimova, E.D. *et al.* (2023) 'Alcohol minimum unit pricing and people experiencing homelessness: A qualitative study of stakeholders' perspectives and experiences', *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 42(1), pp. 81–93. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13548">https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13548</a>.



Dixon, N. and Maclean, H. (2023) 'Understanding Child Criminal Exploitation in Scotland: A Scoping Review'.

Donkin, S. (2023) 'Supporting Parents Into Work – Are They Better Off?' *Improvement Service*. Available at: https://www.improvementservice.org.uk/insights/2023/supporting-parents-intowork-are-they-better-off.

Dunn, L. (2022) 'Lucie Dunn: 75 Ways to Prevent Homelessness', *Scottish Housing News*, 19 July. Available at: <a href="https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/lucie-dunn-75-ways-to-prevent-homelessness">https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/lucie-dunn-75-ways-to-prevent-homelessness</a>.

Dyer, F. (2023) Letter to Justice and ECYPC Committees 'Children (Care and Justice) (Scotland) Bill'.

Dyer, F. and Morrison, P. (2024) 'Children in conflict with the law: Key Messages' CYCJ.

Education Scotland (2022) 'Scottish Attainment Challenge'.

Education Scotland (2022) 'Strategic Framework for Parental Involvement, Parental Engagement, Family Learning and Learning at Home'.

Edwards, F. et al. (2023) 'Administrative Burdens in Child Welfare Systems', RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences, 9(5), pp. 214–231. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.7758/RSF.2023.9.5.09">https://doi.org/10.7758/RSF.2023.9.5.09</a>.

Evans, R. *et al.* (2023) 'Interventions targeting the mental health and wellbeing of care-experienced children and young people in higher-income countries: Evidence map and systematic review', *Systematic Reviews*, 12(1), p. 111. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-023-02260-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-023-02260-y</a>.

Everyone Home Collective (2023) 'A route forward for the Private Rented Sector (PRS)'

Fahy, K. *et al.* (2023) 'Mental health impact of cuts to local government spending on cultural, environmental and planning services in England: a longitudinal ecological study', *BMC Public Health*, 23(1), p. 1441. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-16340-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-16340-0</a>.

Fitzpatrick, S. et al. (2023) 'Destitution in the UK 2023'.



Flacks, S. (2023) 'Parental Substance Use as a Child Protection Problem: A Poststructural Interview Analysis', *Contemporary Drug Problems*, 50(4), pp. 475–490. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00914509231208092">https://doi.org/10.1177/00914509231208092</a>.

Francis-Devine, B. (2022) 'Poverty in the UK: Statistics' House of Commons Library.

Garnham, A. (2023) 'CPAG'S response to Labour's mission'.

Garrett, P.M. (2024) 'What are We Talking about When We are Talking about "Decolonising" Social Work?', *The British Journal of Social Work*, p. bcae018. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcae018">https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcae018</a>.

Gibb, K. and McCall, D.V. (2023) 'The economic and social benefits of housing support'.

Gibson, R. and Morrison, P. (2024) 'Addressing Housing Insecurity'.

Glen, C. (2023) 'We need to work together to fulfil The Promise for young people'.

Goldblatt, P. (2024) 'Health Inequalities, Lives Cut Short January 2024'.

Gollings, J. (2023) 'A Little Less Conversation: Closing Scotland's Implementation Gap' *Our Scottish Future*.

Grant, C. *et al.* (2023) "On paper, you're normal": narratives of unseen health needs among women who have had children removed from their care', *Journal of Public Health*, 45(4), pp. 863–869. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdad137">https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdad137</a>.

Ham, C. and Alderwick, H. (2015) 'Place-based systems of care'.

Hardy, M.A. (2024) 'Poverty metaphors: An autoethnography in three parts', *Qualitative Social Work*, 23(1), pp. 145–164. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/14733250231206801">https://doi.org/10.1177/14733250231206801</a>.

Hardy, M. and Codling, S. (2023) 'Process Evaluation of Siblings Reunited: Final Report'

Harley, Luwam and Toni (2022) 'Bridging the gap with Transitional Safeguarding'.



Hemler, M.E. *et al.* (2023) 'Risk for referral to the child welfare system following parental relationship transitions in Norway', *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 146, p. 106459. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106459">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106459</a>.

Heyman, M. *et al.* (2023) 'Housing circumstances of disabled parents within the child welfare system', *Children and Youth Services Review*, 152, p. 107089. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childvouth.2023.107089">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childvouth.2023.107089</a>.

Hiilamo, A. *et al.* (2023) 'The increasing association between child poverty and children in out-of-home care – an ecological longitudinal analysis of Finnish municipalities in the period 1992–2021', *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 145, p. 106395. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106395">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106395</a>.

HM Inspectorate of Prisons (2023) 'Children in custody 2022–23: An analysis of 12–18–year–olds' perceptions of their experiences in secure training centres and young offender institutions'.

Hobbs, N. (2023) 'Proposed new law to protect children from harmful restraint is much needed'.

Hogg, S. and Mayes, G. (2022) 'Casting Long Shadows The ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on babies, their families and the services that support them'.

Holdroyd, I. *et al.* (2024) 'Fathers' mental III-health and child maltreatment: A systematic review of the literature', *Children and Youth Services Review*, 157, p. 107317. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2023.107317">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2023.107317</a>.

Holt-White, E. et al. (2023) *Briefing No. 1 - Mental and physical health, COSMO*. Available at: <a href="https://cosmostudy.uk/publications/mental-and-physical-health">https://cosmostudy.uk/publications/mental-and-physical-health</a> (Accessed: 24 June 2024).

House, C. and Close, C. (2023) '75 ways to prevent homelessness'.

Hunter, K., Francis, B. and Fitzpatrick, C. (2023) 'Care Experience, Ethnicity and Youth Justice Involvement: Key Trends and Policy Implications' *ADR UK*.

ICMEC (2013) '100 Best Practices in Child Protection'.

ICMEC (2013) 'Child Protection Model Law Best Practices: Protection of Children from Neglect, Abuse, Maltreatment, and Exploitation'.



Improvement Service (2022) 'A Design-based Approach to Understanding and Tackling Rural Child Poverty'.

Improvement Service (2023) 'Delivering The Promise in Local Government'.

Improvement Service (2023) 'Final report on potential funding models and delivery approaches which could be used to allocate the levy funding devolved to the Scottish Government for debt advice'.

Improvement Service (2023) 'Getting Ready for UNCRC Incorporation Framework'.

Improvement Service (2023) 'Supporting Parents into Work: Case Studies'.

Improvement Service (2023) 'Understanding Child Poverty as a Children's Rights Issue'.

Inchley, J. et al. (2022) 'Findings from the HBSC 2022 Survey in Scotland'

Independent Care Review (2020) 'Evidence Framework Feb 2017 - Feb 2020'.

Independent Care Review (2020) 'Follow the Money'.

Innes-Turnill, D. (2023) 'Child abuse, the narrative of parents living in poverty: a critical analysis of parental and professional explanations of why a child was harmed', *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 37(2), pp. 183–197. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2023.2199195">https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2023.2199195</a>.

Johnsen, S. (2023) 'Dochas Service Evaluation'. Harriot Watt University.

Jones, H. (2023) "A constant battle": the interaction of government discourse, poverty and child and family social work practice', *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 37(2), pp. 153–167. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2022.2162488">https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2022.2162488</a>.

Kanevski, R. (2021) 'Children's Social Work Statistics User Forum - Attendee Feedback'.

Kenny, K. (2023) 'The educational experiences of children in care across five decades: A new perspective on the education of looked after children in the UK', *Adoption & Fostering*, 47(1), pp. 22–39. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/03085759231157415">https://doi.org/10.1177/03085759231157415</a>.



Killean, N. et al. (2023) Joint Letter: Statutory Framework on Restraint and Seclusion, The Children and Young People's Commissioner Scotland. Available at:

https://www.cypcs.org.uk/resources/joint-letter-statutory-framework-on-restraint-and-seclusion/ (Accessed: 19 July 2024).

Kim, J., Chung, Y. and Ahn, H. (2023) 'Poverty and child maltreatment: a systematic review', *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, pp. 1–33. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2023.2264819">https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2023.2264819</a>.

King, B. *et al.* (2024) 'Latin American children in Ontario child welfare: An examination of investigation disparities', *Children and Youth Services Review*, 156, p. 107357. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2023.107357.

Kokaua, J. *et al.* (2023) 'Child protection inequalities for Pasifika children in Aotearoa New Zealand: diverse realities', *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, pp. 1–23. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2023.2245856.

Maclean, H. et al. (2024) 'Rights Respecting Justice For Children In Conflict With The Law' Children and Young People's Centre for Justice.

McEwan, D. (2023) 'Introduction to CCE in Scotland'.

McHendry, L. (2022) 'Finding our Place – Who Cares? Scotland'. Available at: https://www.whocaresscotland.org/foster-care/finding-our-place/.

McKenna, S., O'Reilly, D. and Maguire, A. (2024) 'Childhood contact with social services and risk of suicide or sudden death in young adulthood: identifying hidden risk in a population-wide cohort study', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 78(1), pp. 47–53. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2023-220975">https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2023-220975</a>.

McKeown, R. and Hagell, A. (2023) 'Themes from available data and literature Care leavers' experiences of health inequalities'

McTier, A. (2022) 'Data poses questions as well as answers, so what questions arise from Scotland's Child Protection 2021–2022 Statistics?'.



McTier, A. et al. (2023) 'Children's Services Reform Research: Scotland's children's services landscape: The views and experiences of the children's services workforce' *CELCIS*.

Miller, J. and Ross, C. (2019) 'Children and Young People Consultation on the Incorporation of The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)' *Children in Scotland*.

Modi, K. and Kalra, G.K. (2023) 'Overcoming the odds: Demonstrating an aftercare model of providing targeted support to care experienced youth', 22.

Morgan, R. (2012) 'Children's views on restraint'

Morris, M. (2023) 'Reasons to be cheerful: Factors making a positive difference to children in residential care in Scotland', 22.

Morrison, P. and McCullough, J. (2023) 'Creating Restorative Communities'.

Moss, P. (2023) *Social Research for our Times*. Edited by C. Cameron, A. Koslowski, and A. Lamont. UCL Press. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.14324/111.9781800084032">https://doi.org/10.14324/111.9781800084032</a>.

Naert, J. *et al.* (2023) "Listen Very Carefully, We Will Say This Only Once (Again)" Dead Ends to Politicisation in Social Work', *The British Journal of Social Work*, p. bcad266. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcad266">https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcad266</a>.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2017) 'Child abuse and neglect'.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2021) 'Looked-after children and young people'.

Neil, E., Gitsels, L. and Thoburn, J. (2019) 'Children in care: Where do children entering care at different ages end up? An analysis of local authority administrative data', *Children and Youth Services Review*, 106, p. 104472. Available at:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104472.Nixon, C. and Lamb, D. (2023) 'Cyber-enabled and cyber-dependent offences among 12-15 year olds referred to the children's reporter' SCRA.

Neves J. and Stephenson, R. (2023) 'Student Academic Experience Survey 2023'.

NSPCC (2023) 'Why language matters: what is meant by "early help".



O'Dowd, N.C. (2023) 'Blog: Why public sector data needs to be transformed'.

Ofsted (2011)' Edging away from care – how services successfully prevent young people entering care'.

Ofsted (2024) 'A rapid review of evidence on supported accommodation'.

OPFS (2023) 'Poverty-proofing for families in or on the edges of care'.

Ottaway, H. et al. (2023) 'Children's Services Reform Research: Learning and Implications for Scotland' CELCIS.

Our Hearings Our Voice (n.d.) *Language in the Children's Hearings System - Our Hearings, Our Voice*. Available at: <a href="https://www.ohov.co.uk/about-us/projects/language-in-the-childrens-hearings-system/">https://www.ohov.co.uk/about-us/projects/language-in-the-childrens-hearings-system/</a> (Accessed: 19 July 2024).

Padley, M. and Davis, A. (2023) 'Understanding the cost of education to households in the UK'.

Parker, D. (2023) 'Doing Data Differently in South Ayrshire'.

Parsons, S. and Henderson, M. (2023) 'Care in the Cohorts: measurement, research and access'.

Patrick, R. et al. (2023) 'Needs and Entitlements: Welfare reform and larger families'.

Platt, L. and Zuccotti, C.V. (2021) 'Social mobility and ethnicity', ethnic groups [Preprint].

Portman, K. (2023) Care leavers are being failed by local authorities when it comes to homelessness, Left Foot Forward: Leading the UK's progressive debate. Available at: <a href="https://leftfootforward.org/2023/06/care-leavers-are-being-failed-by-local-authorities-when-it-comes-to-homelessness/">https://leftfootforward.org/2023/06/care-leavers-are-being-failed-by-local-authorities-when-it-comes-to-homelessness/</a> (Accessed: 21 June 2024).

Poverty and Inequality Commission (2022) 'Poverty and Inequality Commission Annual Report 2021–2022'.

Poverty and Inequality Commission (2022) 'Poverty and Inequality Commission Cost of Living Briefing: September 2022'.



Public Health Scotland (2024) *Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) waiting times*. Available at: <a href="https://publichealthscotland.scot/publications/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-services-camhs-waiting-times/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-services-camhs-waiting-times-quarter-ending-march-2024/">https://publichealthscotland.scot/publications/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-services-camhs-waiting-times-quarter-ending-march-2024/</a>.

Purtell, J. and Hawkes, M. (2023) 'Privacy and dignity in recordkeeping for out-of- home care: A discussion'. 22.

Queen Margaret University (2023) *ELTI Summer Activity Week | Access to Higher Education | Queen Margaret University*. Available at: <a href="https://www.qmu.ac.uk/study-here/access-to-higher-education/enhanced-learning-tutoring-initiative-elti/">https://www.qmu.ac.uk/study-here/access-to-higher-education/enhanced-learning-tutoring-initiative-elti/</a>.

Quintana Vigiola, G. (2022) 'Understanding Place in Place-Based Planning: From Space- to People-Centred Approaches', *Land*, 11(11), p. 2000. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/land11112000">https://doi.org/10.3390/land11112000</a>.

Reid, K. and Watt, K. (2023) 'A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between The Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council and NHS Education for Scotland (2023–2026)'

Reilly, B. (2022) 'Children Moving Between UK Nations'.

Reilly, B. (2022) 'The Disruption of Adoption and Permanent Foster Placements'.

Rock Trust (2022) 'Housing First for Youth Expansion'.

Rock Trust (2022) 'Spotlight: Rock Trust in Glasgow'.

Samuel, M. (2021) "Little evidence" Signs of Safety improves practice or children's outcomes, finds pilot evaluation'.

Samuel, M. (2023) "Little known" about which practice models work best amid "huge variation" in approach – evidence body'.

Sanders-Ellis, D. *et al.* (2023) 'School Non-Attendance by Children With a Social Worker in the UK: A rapid review of extent, risk factors and interventions'.

Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (2022) 'SCRA Keeping The Promise 2021-24 Strategy'.



Scottish Funding Council (2023) 'Report on Widening Access 2021-22'.

Scottish Government (2012) 'Do the Right Thing: Progress Report 2012'.

Scottish Government (2016) 'A Fairer Scotland For Disabled People - Our Delivery Plan to 2021 for the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities'.

Scottish Government (2017) 'Long-term Monitoring of Health Inequalities'.

Scottish Government (2017) 'Mental Health Strategy: 2017-2027'.

Scottish Government (2019) 'Children's Rights: Consultation on incorporating the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child into our domestic law in Scotland'.

Scottish Government (2019) 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2017/18'.

Scottish Government (2020) 'Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014: Statutory Guidance on Part 3: Children's Services Planning – Second Edition 2020'.

Scottish Government (2021) 'Child Rights and Wellbeing Impact Assessment (CRWIA): External Guidance'.

Scottish Government (2021) 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2019/20'.

Scottish Government (2021) 'Staying Together and Connected: Getting it Right for Sisters and Brothers National Practice Guidance'.

Scottish Government (2022) 'Best Start, Bright Futures: Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan 2022-2026'.

Scottish Government (2022) 'Ending Homelessness Together: Annual report to the Scottish Parliament October 2022'.

Scottish Government (2022) 'Every child every chance: Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan Fourth year progress report 2021–22'.

Scottish Government (2022) 'Homelessness in Scotland: 2021-22'.



Scottish Government (2022) 'Keeping the promise to our children, young people and families'.

Scottish Government (2022) 'Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan: Fourth year progress report 2021–22'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Education Outcomes for Looked After Children 2021/2022'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Ending Homelessness Together: Annual report to the Scottish Parliament October 2022'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Final Report: Supporting Roots'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Homelessness in Scotland: 2022-23'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Human Rights'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Independent Review of Inspection, Scrutiny and Regulation of Social Care in Scotland'.

Scottish Government (2023) *New national allowance for foster and kinship carers*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.scot/news/new-national-allowance-for-foster-and-kinship-carers/">https://www.gov.scot/news/new-national-allowance-for-foster-and-kinship-carers/</a>.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Scottish Social Attitudes survey 2021/22: Public attitudes to children and young people's decision making'.

Scottish Government (2023) 'Siblings - Staying Together and Connected National Implementation Group: executive summary report'.

Scottish Government (2024) 'National Framework for Child Protection Learning and Development in Scotland 2024'.

Scottish Government (2024) 'Renewing the Alliance for Fair Access: Annual Report 2024'.

Scottish Government (2024) *School exclusion statistics*. Available at: <a href="http://www.gov.scot/publications/school-exclusion-statistics/">http://www.gov.scot/publications/school-exclusion-statistics/</a>.



Scottish Government (2024) 'Whole Family Wellbeing Funding (WFWF) Year 1 Process Evaluation Final Report'.

Scottish Government (2024) *Supporting vulnerable witnesses*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.scot/news/supporting-vulnerable-witnesses-1/">https://www.gov.scot/news/supporting-vulnerable-witnesses-1/</a>.

Scottish Government, Rock Trust and A Way Home Scotland (2021) 'Youth Homelessness Prevention Pathway'.

Scottish Housing News (2023) 'Coalition calls for private sector to play greater role in ending homelessness', 18 August. Available at: <a href="https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/coalition-calls-for-private-sector-to-play-greater-role-in-ending-homelessness">https://www.scottishhousingnews.com/articles/coalition-calls-for-private-sector-to-play-greater-role-in-ending-homelessness</a>.

Scottish Independent Advocacy Alliance (2019) 'Independent Advocacy: Principles, Standards & Code of Best Practice'.

Scottish Parliament (2022) 'Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Bill'.

Scottish Prison Service (2024) *Data, Research and Evidence | Scottish Prison Service.* Available at: <a href="https://www.sps.gov.uk/about-us/transparency/data-research-and-evidence">https://www.sps.gov.uk/about-us/transparency/data-research-and-evidence</a>.

Scottish Sentencing Council (2021) 'The Sentencing Process Guideline Scottish Sentencing Council report on public consultation exercise'.

Scottish Social Services Council (2023) 'Mental Health Officers Report 2022'.

Scottish Social Services Council (2023) 'Scottish Social Service Sector: Report on 2022 Workforce Data'.

Scottish Social Services Council (2023) 'Social worker filled posts and vacancies six monthly survey'.

SCRA (2022) 'Spotlight on ... our Race and Ethnicity Group'.

Selwyn, J., Briheim-Crookall, L. and the Bright Spots Team (2022) '10,000 Voices: The views of children in are on their well-being'.



Sir Amyas Morse KCB (2015) 'Care leavers' transition to adulthood'.

Smyth, E. et al. (2023) 'UNDERSTANDING THE VARIATION IN SUPPORT FOR KINSHIP CARERS: A survey of local authorities in England'.

Solace Scotland (2023) 'Housing in Scotland Current Context and Preparing for the Future'.

Soraghan, J. *et al.* (2023) 'The Impact of COVID-19 on Children's Care Journeys in Scotland'. Scottish Centre for Administrative Data Research. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.7488/ERA/3245">https://doi.org/10.7488/ERA/3245</a>.

Speech and Language UK (2023) 'Listening to unheard children: a shocking rise in speech and language challenges'.

Statham, R. (2021) Intersectionality: Revealing The Realities Of Poverty And Inequality In Scotland' *Poverty and Inequality Commission*.

Stewart, C. (2023) 'Who Cares? Scotland is sending Scots teenagers to Harvard' *The Herald*. Available at: https://www.heraldscotland.com/business\_hq/23557752.cares-scotland-sending-scots-teenagers-harvard/

Strathie, S. (2023) 'The benefits of values-based approaches when reporting on relationships' Children in Scotland. Available at: https://childreninscotland.org.uk/creating-quality-assessments-the-benefits-of-values-based-approaches-for-reporting-on-relationships/

Student Awards Agency Scotland (2024) *Support for Care Experienced students - SAAS*. Available at: <a href="https://www.saas.gov.uk/full-time/support-for-care-experienced-students/bursary">https://www.saas.gov.uk/full-time/support-for-care-experienced-students/bursary</a>.

Szloboda, F. (2022) 'WORLD CHILDREN'S DAY: UNCRC AND A CHILD'S RIGHT TO PARTICIPATION'.

Tebaldi, D. and Stokes, J. (2022) 'Defining Pooled' Place-Based' Budgets for Health and Social Care: A Scoping Review', *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 22(3), p. 16. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.6507">https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.6507</a>.

The Care Inquiry (2013) 'Making not Breaking: Building Relationships for our Most Vulnerable Children'.



The Promise Scotland (2021) 'Education: Autumn 2020'.

The Promise Scotland (2023) 'Hearings for Children: Hearings System Working Group's Redesign Report'.

The Promise Scotland (2023) 'Scoping and delivering a national lifelong advocacy service for care experienced children, adults and families'.

Treadvance, D. and Gaddy, M. (2024) 'Unlocking authentic community power: rethinking public service engagement for real impact' *Centre for Public Impact*.

Troncoso, P. and Treanor, M. (2023) 'Methods for analysing the relationship between poverty, parental work intensity, child emotional symptoms and conduct problems over time', *MethodsX*, 10, p. 101940. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2022.101940">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2022.101940</a>.

Tweed, E.J. *et al.* (2022) 'Why are drug-related deaths among women increasing in Scotland? A mixed-methods analysis of possible explanations', *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, 29(1), pp. 62–75. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2020.1856786">https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2020.1856786</a>.

UCAS (2022) 'Next Steps: What is the Experience of Students From a Care Background in Education?'.

United Nations (2010) 'Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children'

United Nations (2016) 'Concluding observations on the fifth periodic report of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland'.

Universities Scotland (2019) 'Scotland's universities to guarantee offers to care experienced applicants who meet minimum entry requirements'. Available at: www.universities-scotland.ac.uk/scotlands-universities-to-guarantee-offers-to-care experienced-applicants-who-meet-minimum-entry-requirements .

Vaithianathan, R. *et al.* (2013) 'Children in the Public Benefit System at Risk of Maltreatment', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45(3), pp. 354–359. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.04.022">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.04.022</a>.



Verhulst, S. *et al.* (2023) 'Toward a Demand-Driven, Collaborative Data Agenda for Adolescent Mental Health', *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 72(1), pp. S20–S26. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2022.05.027">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2022.05.027</a>.

Who Cares? Scotland (n.d.) '1000 Voices'.

Who Cares? Scotland (2024) 'Plan 21-24: Is Scotland Keeping The Promise? A Who Cares? Scotland Research Report'.

Wilson, G. (2021) 'Poverty is a human rights issue for children and young people in Scotland. These are steps that must be taken to address it'.

Winter, K. (2010) 'Communicating with young children: Case studies'.

Winter, K. (2010) 'Communicating with young children: Methods'.

Winter, K. (2010) 'Communicating with young children: Stages and skills'.

Winterton, R. (2014) 'Considering the implications of place-based approaches for improving rural community wellbeing: The value of a relational lens'.

Wood, S. *et al.* (2024) 'Family Group Conference Provision in UK Local Authorities and Associations with Children Looked after Rates', *The British Journal of Social Work*, p. bcae019. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcae019">https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcae019</a>.

Wright, M. and Dickie, D. (2023) 'Police Scotland pulled Tasers on 41 children last year as force is blasted by human rights group – Scottish Daily Express'. Available at: <a href="https://www.scottishdailyexpress.co.uk/news/scottish-news/police-scotland-pulled-tasers-41-30231255">https://www.scottishdailyexpress.co.uk/news/scottish-news/police-scotland-pulled-tasers-41-30231255</a>.

Young, F. and Lilley, D. (2023) 'Breaking the care ceiling: How many care leavers go to university?'.



#### Scott Edgar

Senior Research Manager

scott@diffleypartnership.co.uk

# **Haley Barnes**

Senior Researcher

<u>Haley@diffleypartnership.co.uk</u>

#### Megan Dickson

<u>megan@diffleypartnership.co.uk</u>

#### **Shannon Connolly**

Research Assistant

shannon@diffleypartnership.co.uk

From many voices to smart choices

© 2024 – The Diffley Partnership